APPENDIX V

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF
TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR
ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

The information in this Appendix V has been reproduced from the statutory accounts of Tuan Sing
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 and has not
been specifically prepared for inclusion in this Information Memorandum.
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DIRECTORS’
STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
S

Thie Directors of the Company presant their statement together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2017,

In the opinion of the Directors:

a)

(b)

the consolidated financial staternents of tha Group and the statemant of financial position and statement of changes in
equity of the Company as set out on pages 128 to 207 are drawn up S0 as to give a true and fair view of the financial
positicn of the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2017, and the financial performance, changes in equity and
cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended; and

at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debis when
they fall due.

DIRECTORS 2 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE
The Directors of the Company in office at the date of BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION OF SHARES
this statement are as follows: AND DEBENTURES
Meither at the end of the financial year nor al amy
Mr Ong Beng Kheong {Chairman) time during the financial year was the Company a
Mr Willlam Mursalim party to any arrangement whose object is to enable
alias Willam Liem {Chiel Executive Officer) the Directors of the Company to acquire benafits by
Mr Cheng Hong Kok {Appointed on 15 August 2017) means of the acquisition of shares or debentures of the
Mr Choo Teow Huat Albert Company or any other body corporate.

Mr David Lea Kay Tuan
Ms Michelie Liem Meai Fung
Mr Neo Ban Chuan

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

The Directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interest in the share capital and
debentures of the Company or of related corporations as recorded in the Begister of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the
Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act (the "Act”) except as follows:

HOLDINGS IN WHICH
HOLDINGS REGISTERED DMIRECTOR IS DEEMED TO
IN NAME OF DIRECTOR HAVE AN INTEREST )
AS AT AS AT AS AT AS AT

NAMES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANIES IN 1 JANUARY 31 DECEMEER 1 JANUARY 31 DECEMBER
WHICH INTERESTS ARE HELD 2017 M7 2m7 2m7
THE COMPANY (ORDINARY SHARES)
Mr Ong Bang Kheong 2,200 2,200 = =
Mr David Lee Kay Tuan 250,000 250,000 - -
Ms Michella Liem Meai Fung - - 546,383,829' 546383829
Mr William Nursalim alias Williarm Liem - =  545,383,829' 548,383 829"
THE COMPANY

S%80 million 5-year 4.50% per annum Motes
dus 20189 pursuant to the SE00,000,000
Multicurrency Medium Term Mote Programme

(*MTN Programmea”

Mr Willlam MNursalim alias William Liem 500,000 £500,000 - -

300



20T ANNUAL REFORT

STATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNT / 123

DIRECTORS’
STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

I
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES (CONT'D)
HOLDINGS IN WHICH
HOLDINGS REGISTERED DIRECTOR IS DEEMED TO
IN NAME OF DIRECTOR HAVE AN INTEREST
AS AT AS AT AS AT AS AT
NAMES OF DIRECTORS AND COMPANIES IN 1 JANUARY 31 DECEMBER 1 JANUARY 31 DECEMBER
WHICH INTERESTS ARE HELD - 207 207 2017 2017
£5150 million 3-year 6% per annum Motes due
2020 pursuant to the MTN Programme
Mr Ong Beng Kheong - = - $500,000
Mr Wilkarmn Mursalim alias William Liem = £500,000 - =
Mr Choo Teow Huat Albert - - - £250,000
Mr David Lea Kay Tuan - £500,000 - -
SUBSIDIARY
SP CORPORATION LIMITED (ORDINARY SHARES)
Ms Michelle Liemn Mel Fung - - 28,146,319 28,146 319"

Note:

1 By virtwe of imerest in Nuri Hoddings [5) Pte Lid,

By virtue of Secticn 7 of the Act, Ms Michelle Liem Mei Fung and Mr Willlam MNursalim alias Willam Liem are deemed to
have an interest in the Company and in all the related corporations of the Company.

There was no change In any of the above-mantioned Directors’ interests between the end of the financial year and

21 January 2018,

SHARE OPTIONS

During the financial year, there wera no options granted
to take up unissued shares of the Company or any
carporation in the Group.

During the financial year, there were no shares of the
Company or any corporation in the Group issued by
virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued
shares.

At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued
shares of the Company or any corparation in the Group
under option,
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Audit and Risk Committee performed functions
specified in Sectlon 2018 (5) of the Act, the SGX-5T
Listing Manual and the Singapore Code of Corporate
Governance,

The Audit and Risk Committee of the Company is
chaired by Mr Choo Teow Huat Albert and includes
Messrs David Lee Kay Tuan and Nec Ban Chuan, all
of whom are non-executive Directors and the majority
including the Chairman, are independent. The Audit
and Risk Committee met six times during the financial
year ended 31 December 2017 and had reviewed, infar
&lia, the following with the executive Director, extemnal
and internal auditors of the Company where relevant:

{a) the external and internal audit plans; the scope
of the intermal audit procedures and results of
the internal auditors” exarnination and evaluation

of the Group's systems of internal accounting
conirois;

B the Group's financial and operating results and
accounting policies;
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DIRECTORS’
STATEMENT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
5§ AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE (CONT'D) B EXTERNAL AUDITORS
(=] the consolidated financial statements of the Deloitte & Touche LLP have expressed their willingness

Group, the statement of financial position and to accept re-appointment,
statemant of changes in equily of the Company

before thesr submission to the Directors of the

Comparny and the external auditors' report on On Behalf of the Directors

thosa financial statements;

() the quarterly, half-yearly and annual
announcements on the results and financial

positions of the Company and the Group; Mr Ong Beng Kheong
Chairman
(e} the interested person transactions as specified
under Chapter 9 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual
Rules;

n the co-pperation and assistance given by Mr William Nursalim alias William Liem
the management to the Group's external and Chief Executive Officer
internal auditors; and
26 January 2018
(gl the re-appointment of the external and Internal
auditors of the Group.

The Audit and Risk Committes has full access o and
has the co-operation of the management and has been
given the resources required for it to discharge its
functions property. It also has full discretion 1o invite any
Director and executive officer to attend its meetings.
The external and internal awditors have unrestricted
access to the Audit and Fisk Committes.

The Audit and Risk Committee has recommended
to the Directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche
LLP for re-appointment as the external auditors of the
Group at the forthcoming Annual Genaral Meating of
the Company,
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Deloitte.

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements
of Tuan Sing Heldings Limited (the *Company™) and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”), which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group and the statement
of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2017,
and the consolidaled statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group
and the statement of changes In equity of the Company for
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
Including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set
out on pages 128 o 207.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements of the Group and the statement of financial position
and statement of changes in equity of the Company are
properly drawn up In accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”) and Financial Reporting
Standards in Singapore ("FASs") so as to give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial posgition of the Group and
the financial pesition of the Company as at 31 Dacember 2017
and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated
changes in equity and consolidated cash flows of the Group
and of the changes in equity of the Company for the year ended
on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore
Standards on Auditing ("S5As7). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Audifor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA®) Code
of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities {"ACRA Code®) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
staternents in Singapm‘a. and wa have fulflled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these reguirements and
the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained Is sufficlent and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit mattars are thosa matters that, in our professicnal
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the current year, These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters,
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
A

Valuation of development properties

The Group has residential properties under development and
held for sale which are mainly located in Singapore. These
development properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable values. The determination of the estimated net
realisable value of these development properties Is dependent
upon the Group's expectations of future selling prices. There
Is & risk that the aslimatas of nel realisable values may excead
future selling prices, resulting in losses when properties arg
sold.

Our audit performed and responses thereon

We discussed with and challenged management on the basis
used in their assessment in determining whether the Group's
properties under development and complated residential
properties held for sale are impaired and the amount of
impairment to be recorded if any, based on the Group's
estimated seling prices of these properties, by comparing
where available, to recently transacted prices and prices of
past sales of comparable properties in surrounding locations.,
We also performed sensitivity analysis on the estimated
seling prices used by management in thelr assessment and
considered the adequacy of the disclosuras in respect of the
Impaiment losses presentad in the financial statements for
these properties.

We found management's estimates 1o be reasonable based
on supportable information available, and that management
had appied their knowledge of the business in determining
the estimated seling prices of the respective properties, by
taking into consideration the selling prices of recent sales of
the respective properties and that of comparable properties,
and expectations of the property market conditions, We found
that the Group had appropriately recorded the impairment loss
in profit or loss and the related disclosures to be appropriate.

Further disclosures are made in Note 8 to the financial
staternants.

Valuation of investment properties and hote! properties

The Group has investment and hotel properties stated at fair
value, determined based on professional external valuers
engaged by the Group.

The valuation process involves significant judgement and
estimation. The valuations are dependent on tha valuation
methodology applied and these are underpinnad by a number
of assumptions which included price per square metre of
market comparables used; capitalisation rates; prce per square
metre of gross’net lettable area; value per room for hotel
properties and costs to complete and gross development value
for the investment property under redevelopment. A change in
the key azsumptions applied may have a significant impact to
the valuation.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
L

Our audit performed and responses therean

We read the terms of engagement of the external valuers to
consider the objectivity and independence of the extemnal
valuers, and also considgered the qualification and competency
of the external valuers engaged.

We considared the appropriatenass of the valuation techniques
used by the external valuers for the respective investmant
and hotel properties, taking into account the profile and
type of these properties. We discussed with the extemal
valuers on the results of their work, and compared the key
assumptions used in their valuations by reference to externally
published benchmarks where available and considered whether
these assumptions are consistent with the current market
anvironmant,

For the investment property under development, we also
evaluated the Group's estimated cost of development and
where relevant, agreed to third party contracts for work
contracted or to supportable documents.,

We also considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the
financial statements, in describing the Inherent degree of
subjectivity and key assumptions in the estimates.

We found that the external valuers were recognised
professionals with appropriate level of qualifications and
experience. The valuation methodologies adopted were in kng
with generally accepted market practices. The key assumptions
used were within reasonable range, taking into account
historical rates and available industry data for comparable
markets and properties, For the investment property under
development, the estimated total cost of development and
cost of work performed were supported by third parties'
construction cerificates and other relevant documents. We also
found that the related disclosures In the financial statements

to be adequate.

Further disclosures on the investment properties and hotel
properties are found in Mote 10 and Note 9 to the financial
statements respectively.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
AUDITOR'S REFORT THEREON

Management is responsible for the other information. The
othar information comprises the Directors’ Statement and
Corporate Governance Report but doas not include the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon, which we obtained
prior to the date of this auditor's report, and the Company
and Strategy, Highlights of the Year, Corporate Stewardship,
Management Discussion and Analysis, Sustainability Report
and Shareholding Statistics reports, which are expected to be
made avallable to us after that data.

Qur opénion on the financial statements does not cover tha
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above
when it becomes available and, in doing so0, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements orf our knowledgea obtained n the awdt, or otharwisa
appears 1o ba materially misstated.

i, based on the work we have performed on the other
Information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor's
report, we conclude that there is material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to raport in this regard.

When we read the other information which are expected to
be made available to us after the date of this auditor’'s report,
il wea conclude that there is a materal misstatament therain,
we are required to communicate the matter to those charged
with governance and take appropriate actions in accordance
with SSAs.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial
staternents that give a true and fair view in accordance
with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls
sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance thal assets are
safequarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition;
and transactions are properly authorised and that they are
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair
financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

In preparing the financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the gaing concern basis of accounting
unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors' responsibilities inclede oversesing the Group's
financial reporting process.

304



2T ANNUAL REFORT

AUDITOR'S RESFONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reascnable assurance about
whather the financial statements as a whola are frea from
material misstatemant, whether due to fraud or error, and to
Issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of agsurance, but ks not a guarantea
that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always
detect a material misstatement whan it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
Indhidually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, wea exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatermeant of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and cbtain audit evidence that |s suffichant
and appropriata 1o provide a basis for our opénion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstaternent resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omisslons, misrepresantations, or the override of
internal contral.

{b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procaduras that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group's internal control.

{c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

(s} Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
unceriainty exists retaled to evenis or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continse as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required 1o
draw attention in ouwr auditor's report to the related
disciosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opindon, Our
conclusions are based on the audil evidence obtained
up to the date of cur auditor's report. However, future
aevents or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
confinue as a going concerm.
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED
S

(&) Evaluate tha overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statemenis represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achiaves fair presentation.

if} Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit, We remain solely responsible for our audit

We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other
matters, the ptanned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all refationghips
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safequards.

From the matters communicated with the Directors, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the financial statements of the current year and are
therafore the key audit matters. We describe these mattlers
In our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT OM OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In our opinion. the accounting and other records required by
the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the
auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the
provisions of the Act.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting In this
independent auditer's report ks Loi Chee Keong.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore

26 January 2018
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STATEMENTS OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
Group = i _Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
Mote £'000 $'000 S'm §'000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balancas 5 216,843 163,668 B8, 73T 301
Trade and other receivables 6 93,827 158,793 12,162 7,904
Amounts due from subsidiaries 15 = = 354,851 255,467
Irventories 7 2,906 3,564 - -
Development properties 8 188,308 183,232 - -
Total current assets 501,884 509,277 456,750 263,762
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipmant 9 443,093 419,278 - -
Investment properties 10 1,592,687 1,108,652 498 498
Irvestments in subsidiaries 1 - - 695,647 684,755
Investments in equity accounted investess 12 93,185 83,579 - -
Defarred tax assels 17 2,253 2, 2B6 - -
Trade and other receivables ] 5,057 = = =
Other non-current assets 12 11 - -
Total non-current assets 2,136,287 1,613,806 696,145 685,253
Total assets 2,638,171 2,123,083 1,151,885 849,015
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings 13 278,943 3,406 - -
Trade and other payables 14 121,017 112,333 20,153 20,096
Amounts due to subsidiares 15 - - 309,729 265,956
Derivative financial instruments 28 87 - - -
Income tax payable 13,523 22,290 B4 52
Total current liabllities 414,470 138,028 329,966 286,104
Nen-current llabilities
Loans and borrowings 13 1,179,177 1,017,387 228,364 79,562
Derivative financial instrumeants 28 - 1.019 - =
Deferred tax liabilities 17 47,784 35,730 - =
Other non-current Rabilities 14 463 462 - -
Total nen-current liabilities 1,227,424 1,054,598 228,364 79,562
Capital, reserves and non-controlling interests
Share capital 18 172,514 171,306 172,514 171,306
Resarves 18 _ B13,135 48,116 421,051 412,043
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 985,649 919,422 593,565 583,349
Non-controlling Interests 1028 11,034 o= =
Total equity 996,277 930,456 583,565 583,349
Total liabilities and equity 2,638,171 2,123,083 1,151,895 949,015

The accompanying nolas form an inlegral part of the financial statemants.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
_Group
2017 2016
Note $'000 §'000
Revenue 21 357,922 404,018
Cost of sales (292,894) {319,634)
Gross profit 65,028 B4 384
Other operating income 7,346 4,490
Distribution costs (8,077) {5,887)
Administrative expenses (26,268) (29,741)
Other operating expenses 3,380) {7.739)
Share of results of an equity accounted investee 12 15,677 13,466
Interast income 22 4,150 4,465
Finance costs 23 (33,173) 125,716)
Profit before tax and fair value adjustments 23,293 ar, 742
Fair value adjustments 24 44,814 2,336
Profit before tax 25 68,107 40,078
Income tax expenses 26 (5,261) 6,272)
Profit for the year 62,846 33,806
Other comprehensive income
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation of properties 28 33,846 16,980
Income tax relating to components of other comprehansive income that
will not be reclassified subsaquently 28 (10,154) (5.084)
23,692 11,886
ltams that may be reclassified subsaguently to profif or loss
Exchange differances on translation of foreign operations 28 {9,109) 4,903
Share of other comprehensive income of an equity accounted investes 28 (6,360) 2,820
Cash flow hedges 28 916 {90)
Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income that
may be reclassified subsequently 28 (275) 27
(14,828) 7,669
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 28 B, B64 19,555
Total comprehensive income for the year T, 710 53,361
Profit attributable to:
Owners of the Company 62,734 33,585
Non-controlling interasts 112 221
62,846 33,806
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company 72,116 52,879
Non-controlling interests (406) 382
M, 710 53,381
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in cents)
Inchuding fair value adjustmeants 27 53 28
Excluding fair value adjustmants 27 1.8 2.7

The accompanying notes form an integeal part of the financial statements,
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

___ Group
2017 2016
Note $'000 $'000
Operating activities
Profit before tax 68,107 40,078
Adjustments for:
Fair value gain 24 (44,814) (2,338
Share of results of an equity accounted investes 12 {15,677) {13,466)
[Write-back of allowance)allowance for diminution in value for development
properties, net 8 {1,784) 3,640
Depreciation of property, plant and eguipment 9 7.725 7,772
Allowance for inventory obsoclescence, net 7 17 1
Aliowance for doubtful trade and other receivables, net 3 425 52
Writa-back of recognised corporate guarantee na longer required 25 - {445}
Met loss on liquidation of subsidiaries 25 - 1,794
MNet loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 25 1] 5
Interest income 22 (4,150) 14,465)
Finance costs 23 33,173 25,7186
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 43,028 58,355
Developmant proparties less progressiva billings recaivable (2,495) 149,758
Inventories 671 83
Trade and other receivables 62,358 {12,424)
Trade and other payablas B,351 {4.276)
Cash generated from operations 111,913 191,497
Intarest received 2,059 2,129
Income tax paid (12,408) (3.523)
Met cash from operating activities 101,566 180,103
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 9 (4,283) (4,098)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 17 64
Additions to investment properties {439,095) {19,364)
Deposit paid for acquisition of land in Batam 8 {3,915) (7,830
Deposit collected from disposal of a subsidiary 8 4,294 -
Met cash used in investing activities (442,808) {31,228)
Financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 510,894 98,166
Repayment of loans and borrowings (67,015) {182,611)
Intarast paid {39,094) (34,161)
Bank deposits released/{pledged) as securities for bank facilities 656 (32,8223)
Dividend paid to shareholders (5,866) {5.877)
Shares bought back and cancelled 18 (23) (120
Met cash from/{used in) financing activities 399,552 {167,525)
MNet increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 58,310 {8,650)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 95,806 105,675
Foreign currency translation adjustments (3,061) {1,129)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5 151,145 95,896

The accompanying notas form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
Foreign Attributable
currency Asset Other to owners Non-
Share translation revaluation capital Revenue ofthe controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserves’  reserve  Company interests  Equity

) Note $'000 £'000 £'000 $'000 £'000 £'000 $'000  $'000
Group
At 1 January 2017 171,306 {16,151} 106,420 126,787 531,060 919,422 11,034 930,456
Total comprehensive

income for the year
Proéit for the year - - - - 62,734 62,734 112 62,846
Exchange differences on

translation of foreign

operations 28 - (14,951) - - - {14,851} (518) ([15469)
Revaluation of properties 28 - - 33,845 - - 33,846 - 33,846
Cash flow hedges 28 - - 916 - 916 - 916
Income tax adjustments

redating to other

comprehensive income 2 | - - (10,154) (275) - (10,429) - [10,429)
Other comprehensive (loss)

income for the year,

net of tax - (14,951} 23,692 641 - 9,382 (518)  &,864
Total - (14,951) 23,692 641 62,734 72,116 (408) 71,710
Transactions with owners,

recognised directly in

equity
Transfer from revenue

reserve to other capital

resarves = - = 23234 (2323) - = -
Issue of shares under the

Scrip Dhidend Scheme 18 1.231 - - - - 1,231 - 1,23
Shares bought back and

cancellad 18 (23) - - - - (23) - (23)
Dividend paid to shareholders

- Cash 20 - - - - (5,866) (5,866) - [5866)

- Share 20 = - = - haan (1231) - (1231 |
Total 1,208 - = 23,234 30,331) (5,860) - (5889)
At 31 December 2017 172,514 31,102} 130,112 150,662 563463 985,640 10,628 896,277

& Datailz of “Other capital resenves” are disciosed n Nobe 158

The accompanying nolas form an inlegral part of the financial statemants.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
Foreign Attributable
currency Asset Other to owners MNon-
Share translation revaluation  capital Revenue ofthe controlling  Total
capital  account reserve reserves’  reserve  Company interests  Equity
Mote  $'000 £'000 §'000 £'000 §'000 §'000 §'000  $'000
Group
At 1 January 2016 170,230 (23,728) 94,534 116342 519,421 876,805 10,652 BATA57
Total comprehensive
income for the year
Profit for the year - - - - 33,585 343,585 221 33.806
Exchangs differences on
translation of foreign
operations 28 - 75N - - = 7.5M 181 T.732
Revaluation of properlies b - - 16,980 - - 16,980 - 16,980
Cash fiow hedges 2B - = = =0 = =] - {90)
Income tax adjustments
relating to other
comprahensive income 28 - - {5,094) 27 - {5,067) - {5,067)
Other comprahensive floss)
income for the year,
niet of tax - 7.5M1 11,886 163 - 19,304 161 18,555
Tatal - 7,81 11,886 63) 33,585 52479 3|2 53381
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in
equity
Tranzfer from revenus
resenve 1o other capital
regenes - - - 14,873 (14,873 - - -
Issue of shares under the
Senp Dnvidend Scheme 18 1.186 - - - = 1.196 - 1,196
Shares bought back and
cancelled 18 120 - - - - (1200 = {1200
Dividend paid to shareholders
- Cash 20 - - - - 5,877} 5,877) -  [BAT
— Share m = & - - {1,196) {1,186 - (.88
additional shares in a
member of associale 12 - - - {4,365} - {4, 365) - {4385
Total 1078 - - 10508 [21.848)  (10.362) = (10362)
At 31 December 2016 171,306 {16,151} 106,420 126,787 531,060 919,422 11,034 930458

" Detaiz of “Oiber capilal reserves” are disclosed in Note 19,

The accompanying nofes form an infegral part of the financial staterments.
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STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
Other
Share capital Revenue Total
capital reserve’ reserve equity
Mote $'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
Company
At 1 January 2017 171,306 101,264 310,779 583,349
Profit for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year - - 16,105 16,105
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity
Issue of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme 18 1,231 - - 1,231
Dividend paid to shareholders
- Cash 20 - s (5,868) (5,866)
- Share 20 - - {1,231) (1,231)
Shares bought back and cancellad 18 (23) - - {23)
Total 1,208 - (7,097) (5,889)
At 31 Decembar 2017 172,514 101,264 318,787 593,565
At 1 January 2016 170,230 101,264 284,427 565,921
Profit for the year, representing total
comprehensive income for the year - - 23,425 23,425
Transactions with owners,
recognised directly in equity
Issue of shares under the Scrip Dividend Scheme 18 1,196 - - 1,196
Dividend paid to sharaholders
- Cash 20 - B 5,877) {5,877)
- Share 20 = - 11,196) (1,196)
Shares bought back and cancelled 18 {1200 - = 120
Total 1,076 - 17.073) {5,997)
At 31 December 2016 171,306 101,264 310,779 583,349

Datails of "Other capital resenves” are disciosed i Note 19,

The accompanying nolas form an inlegral part of the financial statemants.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

GENERAL

Tuan Sing Holdings Limited (Reglstration number:
196800130M) is incorporated in the Rapublic of
Singapore with its principal place of business and
registered office at 9 Oxley Rise, #03-02 The Oxley,
Singapore 238687, The Company Iz listed on the
Singapore Exchange Securilies Trading Limited. The
financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

The principal activity of the Company is thal of
invastment hotding. The principal activities of its
significant subsidiaries and associates are disclosed
in Note 33 and Mote 34 to the financial statements
respectively, There have been no significant changes
in the nature of these aclivities during the financial year.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
and statement of financial position and statement of
changes in equity of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2017 were authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 26 January 2018,

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with the historical cost basis,
except as disclosed in the accounting policies
below, and are drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act
and Financial Reparting Standards in Singapore
["FRSs").

Historical cost ks generally based on the fair
value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods and services.

Fair value ks the price that would be received to
sell an asset or pald to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement data, regardiess of whather
that price is directly observable or estimated
using another valuation technigue. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liabiity which market participants
would take Into account when pricing the asset
or Raixiity al ihe measwremeni daie. Fair vaiue
for measurament and/or disclosure purposes
in these consolidated financial statements
is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of FRS 102 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the
scope of FRS 17 Leases, and measurements
that have some similarities to fair valua but ara
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not fair value, such as net realisable value in
FRS 2 Invenfories or value in use in FRS 36
Impairment of Assels.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes,
fair value measurementis are categorised into
Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

*« |level 1 inputs are quoted prices
{unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the antity can
access al the measurement date;

*  Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
obsarvable for the asset or Rability, either
directly or indirectly; and

*  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for
the asset or lability.

Adoption of new and revised Standards

©On 1 January 2017, the Group adopted all the
new and ravised FASs and Interpretations of
FAS ("INT FRS") that are effective from that date
and are relevant to its operations.

The adoption of these new or revised FR3s
and INT FRSs does not result in changes to the
Group's and the Company’s accounting policies
and has no material effect on the amounts
reported for the cument or prior years except
for certain presentation improvements arising
fraom Amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows: Disclosure Initiative.

Amendments to FRS 7 Statement of Cash Flows:
Disclosure Initiative

The amendments require an entity to provide
disclogures that enable users of financial
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financial activities, including both
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash
changes.

The Group's fabilities arising from financing
activities and a reconciliation between the
opening and closing balances of these Eabilities
are set out in Mote 13. Consistent with the
transition provisions of the amendments,
the Group has not disclosed comparative
Information for the prior period. Apart from the
additional disclosure in Note 13, the applcation
of these amendments has had no impact on
the Group's consolidated financial statemants,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(<)

Standards issued but not yet effective
Convergence fo the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS") in 2018
Singapore-incorporated companies listed
on the Singapore Exchange (“SGX") will be
required to apply a new Singapore financial
reparting framewark, the Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (International) ("SFRS()").
that is identical to the International Financial
Reporting Standards (*IFRS”) for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, The
Group will be adopting SFRS(l) framework
for the first time for financial year ending 31
December 2018, with retrespective application
to the comparative financial year ended 31
December 2017 and the opening statement of
financial position as at 1 January 2017 (date
of transition).

Management has performed a cetalled analysis
of the transition options and other reguiremants
of SFRS(l) 1 First-time Adoption of Singapore
Financial Reporting Standards (International),
and has determined that there is no change
to the Group’s curent accounting policies or
material adjustments an transition to the new
framework, other than those that may arise
from implementing new/revised IFRSs, and the
glection of cerain ransition oplions awvailabla
under SFRS() 1.

Management will be electing the transition
option to use fair value as the deemed
cost for certain properties that will result in
material adjustments on transition to the new
framewaork.

Tha estimated effects of retrospective
application on the amounts reported in 2017 is
tabled on page 137,

At the date of authorisation of these financial
staternents, the following SFRS()s and SFRS()
Interpratations ("SFRS{) INT™) that are relevant
1o the Group and the Company were issued but
not effective;

= SFRS[) 9 Financial Instruments’

+  SFRE() 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers (with clarifications issued)’

= SFR3{) 16 Leages®

«  SFRS) 1-40 Investment Property’
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=  SFRS3(l}) 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and SFAS() 1-28 Investments
in Associates and Joint Veniures®

= SFR3(l) INT 22 Foreign Currancy
Transactions and Advance Consideration’

1 Apples to snnual perods baginning on o after 1 Janusry
2018, wiih aary application pemnified,

2 Apples 1o anrunl poriods beginning on of after 1 Jenuary
2018, with sarer application pemitbed & SFASH 18 is

noopisd

Management will be electing the transition
option to use falr value as the deemed cost
for certain properties. The estimated effects to
the Group's financial statements in the pericd
of initial application are disclosed on page 137.

Consequential amendments were also made to
various standards as a result of these new or
revised standards,

The management anticipates that the adoption
of the above SFRS(lls and SFRS{) INTs in future
periods will not have a material impact on the
financlal staterments of the Group and of the
Company in the period of their initial adoption
except for the following:

SFRS{1) 9 Financial Instruments

SFRS() 9 was issued In December 2017,
and introduced new requirements for (i) the
classification and measurement of financial
assets and financial liabilities, (i) ganeral hedge
accounting and (i) mpairment requirements for
financial assets.

Key requirements of SFRS(I) 9:

In retation to the impaiment of financial assets,
SFRS() 2 requires an expected credit loss
model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss
model under FRS 33. The expected credit
loss model requires an entity to account for
axpected credit losses and changes In those
expectad credit losses at each reporting date
to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition. In other words, it & no longer

Fm ey me m mesedll st B b o seseal
TECEEEary OF o Creln avenl o0 nave OCOuimss

before credit losses are recognised.

Management has performed a detalled analysis
of the requirements of the initial application of
the new SFRS() 9 and has anticipated that the
adoption of SFRS() 9 will not have a material
impact on the financial statemants of the Group
and of the Company in the period of their initial
adoption. Management does not plan to early
adopt the new SFRS() 9.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(<)

Standards issued but not yet effective (cont'd)
SFRS(I) 15 Revenuve from Contracts with
Customers

In Decamber 2017, SFRS(l) 15 was issued
which establishes a single comprehensive
modal for entities to use in accounting for
revenue arising from contracts with customers.
SFRS{} 15 will supersede the current revenue
recognition guidance including FRS 18 Revenue,
FRS 11 Construction Cantracts and the related
Interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of SFRS({) 15 is that an
entity should recognise revenue to depict
the transfer of promised goods or services
to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Specifically, the Standard Introeduces a
5-step approach to revenue recognition:

= Step 1: Identify the contracts) with a
customer,

=  Step 2: ldentify the performance obligations

in the contract.
*  Step 3: Determine the transaction price.

*  Step d: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance cbligations in the contract,

s«  Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the
entity satisfies a performance obligation.

Under SFRS{I) 15, an antity recognises revanue
when (or as) a performance obligation is
satisfied, i.e. when "control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance
obligation ks transferred to the customer. Far
mora prescriptive guidance has been added
in SFRS{} 15 to deal with specific scenarios.
Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required
by SFAS() 15.
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Management anticipates that the initial
application of the new SFRS{) 15 wil have
an mpact on the financial statements of the
Group In the period of thelr initial adoption.
The estimates effects to the Group's financial
statements in the period of initial application are
disclosed on page 137.

SFRS() 16 Leases

SFRS() 16 was issued in December 2017, The
Standard provides a comprehensive model for
the identification of lease arrangements and
thair treatment in the financial statements of
both lesseas and lessors. The identification
of leases, distinguishing between leases and
service contracts, are determined on the basis
of whether there is an identified assat controlled
by the customer.

Significant changes to lessee accounting
are infroduced, with the distinction betwean
operating and finance leases removed and
assets and ligbilities recognised in respect of all
leases (subject to limited exempticns for shor-
term leases and leases of low value assels).
The Standard maintains substantially the lessor
accounting approach under the predecessor
FRS 17 Leases.

Managament ks currently assessing and has yet
to complete the work on the possible impact
of implementing SFRS() 16. It s therefore
impracticable to disclose any further information
on the known or reasonably estimable impact to
the Group's financial statements in the period of
initial applicaticn. Management does not plan to
early adopt the above new SFRE() 16.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)

(€}

Standards issued but not yet effective (cont'd)

Impact of adoption of SFRS(I) 1 and SFRS{I) 15

The following table provides the estimates effects on the Group's financial in the period of the initial application of
SFRS{) 1 and SFR3() 15.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

1 Januwary 1 January

2017 SFRS(I) 15 SFRS(I) 1 2017

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(As reported) (Restated)

Contract assets - 337 - 3ar
Property, plant and eguipment 419,278 - 3,653 422,931
Income tax payable 22,290 - - 22,290
Deferred tax liabilitias 35,730 - - 35,730
Revenue reserve 531,060 337 - 531,397
Asset revaluation reserve 106,420 = 3,853 110,073
31 December 31 December

2017 SFRS(l) 15 SFRS(I) 1 2017

£'000 $'000 £'000 $'000

(As reported) (Restated)

Contract assets - 286 - 286
Property, plant and equipment 443,093 - 3,592 446 685
Income tax payable 13,523 (=) - 13,514
Deferred tax liabilities 47,784 - (10) 47,774
Revenue reserve 563,463 295 (51} 563,707
Asset revaluation reserve 130,112 - 3,653 133,765

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2017 SFRS(I) 15 SFRS{I) 1 2017

£'000 $£'000 £'000 £'000

(As reported) (Restated)

Revenue 357,922 = = 357,922
Cost of sales (292,894) - - (292,894)
Administrative expenses (26,268) {51) (61} (26,380)
Profit belore tax 68,107 (51) {61} 67,995
Income tax expanses (5,261) L] 10 [5,242)
Profit for the year 62,845 42) {51} 62,753
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(d)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statemeants
Incorporate the financial statements of the
Company and entities (including structured
entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiarias.

Control is achieved when the Company:
*  Has power over the investee;

= |5 exposed, or has rights, to vanable retumns
from its involvement with the investes; and

*  Has the ability to use its power 10 affect its
retms.

The Company reassesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances
Indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above,

Whan the Company has less than a magority of
tha voting rights of an investee, it has power
over the investee when the voling rights are
sufficient to give it the practical abidlity to direct
the refevant activities of the imvestes unilaterally.
The Company considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether or not the
Company's votlng rights In an Investee are
sufficient 1o give it power, including:

+  The size of the Company’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of
holdings of the other vote holders;

=  Potential voting rights held by the Company,
ather vote holders or other parties,

* Rights arising from other contractiual
arrangements; and

= Any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Company has, or does
not have, the current abllity to direct the
ralavant activities at the time that decisions
neead to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders” meetings.
Consclidation of a subsidiary begins when the
Company obfains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Company loses control
of the subsidiary. Specifically, Income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
dizposed of during the year are Included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprahensive income from the date tha
Company gains control until the date when the
Company ceases to controd the subsidiary.
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Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive incoma are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries |8 attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the
non-controdling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance,

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policies.

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for
as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controfling
interasts are adjusted to raflect tha changas in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
Is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary,
a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and
is calcutated as the differance between (j) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets {including goodwill), and liabilities
of the subsidiary and any non-controlling
interasts. All amounts praviously recognised in
other comprahensive income in relation to the
subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or
lizbilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
FRSs). The fair value of any investment retained
in the former subsidiary at the date whan control
Is bost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under
FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
fdgasuremeni or, when appiicable, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

In the Company's separate financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries and associates
are carried at cost less any impairment in net
recoverable value that has been recognised in
profit or loss,
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT"D)
(d) Basis of consolidation (cont'd)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are
accounted for using the acguisition method.
The consideration for each acquigition is
measured at the aggregate of the acquisition
date fair values of assets given, liabilities
Incurred by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree, and equity interests issued by the
Group in exchange Tor control of the acquiree.
Acquisition-refated costs are recognised in profit
or loss as incurmed.

Where applicable, the consideralion for the
acquisition includes any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangemant, measured at its acquisition-
date fair value, Subsequent changes in such
fair values are adjusted against the cost of
acquisition where they qualify as measurement
period adjustrments (see below). The subsaquant
accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on
how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that iz classified
as equity is not remeasured at subsequent
reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent
consideration that is classified as an assel or a
liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.

Where a business combination s achieved In
slages, the Group's previcusly held interasts in
the acquired entity are re-measured 1o fair value
at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group
attaing contrel) and the resulting gain or loss,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts
arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been
recagnised in other comprehensive income
are reclassified to profit or loss, where such
freatmant would be appropriate if that interast
were disposed of,

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities that meet the condstions for
recognition under the FRS are recognised at
their fair value at the acquisition date, except
that:

« Deferred tax assels or liabilities and
liabilities or assels related to employes
benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with
FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 189
Empioyee Benefils respectively;
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* Liabilties or equity instruments related
to share-based paymenl transaclions of
the acquiree or the replacement of an
acquiree's share-based payment awards
transactions with share-based payment
awards transactions of the acquirer in
accordance with the methed in FRS 102
Share-based Payment at the acquisition
date; and

= Assets (or disposal groups) that are
classified as held for sale in accordance
with FRS 105 Non-current Assel Held
for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured In accordance with that
Standard.

Mon-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net assets in
the event of kquidation may be initially measured
gither at fair value or at the non-controfling
interests” proportionate share of the recognised
amounts of the acquirea's identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurament basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.
Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on
the basis specified In ancther FRS.

If the initial accounting for a business
combination ks incomplete by the end of the
reporting period in which the combination
occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are
adjusted during the measurement period (see
below), or additional assets or labilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date that, if known, would
have affected the amounts recognised as of
that date.

The measurement pericd is the period from
the date of acquisition to the date the Group
obtains complete information about facts and
circumslances that existed as of the acqguesition
date, and is subject 10 a maximum of one year
from acqguisition date,

Associates and joint venture (equity accounted
investees)

An associate is an entity aver which the Group
has significant influence. Significant nfluence
is the power to participate in the financial and
operating decisions of the investee but is not
contral or joint control over those policies.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONT'D)

(d} Basis of consolidation (cont'd)
Associates and foint venture (equity accounted
investees) (cont'd)

A joint venture Is a joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the net assets
of the joint arangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control,

The results of and assets and labilities of
associales or joint venturas are incorporated in
these consobdated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting, except when
the investment, or a portion thereof, Is classified
as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for
In accordance with FRS 105 Mon-current Assels
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Under the equity method, an Investment in an
associate or a joint venture is initially recognised
in the consclidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the profit or
loss and other comprehensive income of the
associates or joint ventures. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate or a joint veniure
exceeds the Group's interest in that associate
or joint venture (which includes any long-term
interasts that. in substance, form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or joint
venture), the Group discontinues recognising
itz share of further losses. Additional lossas are
recognised only to the extant that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the associate
or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
Is accounted for using the equity method from
the date on which the investee becomes an
associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of
tha investment in an associate or a joint venture,
any excess of the cost of acquisition over
the Group's share of the net fair vaiue of the
Identifiable assets and Habilities of the investea
is recognised as goodwill, which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assels and liabilities
owver the cost of investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in
the period in which the investment i3 acquired
[Mote 2{n)].
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The requirements of FRS 39 are apphed to
determing whether it is necessary to recognisa
any impairment loss with respect to the Group's
investment in an associate or a joint venture,
When necessary, the entire carrying amount
of the investmeant (including goodwill) is tested
for impairment in accordance with FRS 36
Impairment of Assels as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of
value in use and fair value less costs to sell)
with its camying amount, any impaiment loss
recognised forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment
loss ks recognised in accordance with FRS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
Investment subsequently increases.

The Group discontinues the use of the equity
method from the date when the inmvestment
ceases to be an associate or a joint venture,
or when the investment is classified as held
for sale. When the Group retains an interest in
the former associate or joint venture and the
retained interest iz a financial asset, the Group
maasuras the retained interest at fair value at
that date and the faér value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recogniticn in accordance with
FRS 389. The differance between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture at the
date the equily method was discontinued, and
the fair value of any retained interest and any
proceeds from disposing of a part interest in
the associate or joint venture is included in the
determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the associate or joint venture. In addition,
the Group accounts for all amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
relation to that associate or joint venlure on
the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or labdities, Therefore, if
a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate or joint
venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or labilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
when the equity method is discontinued.

The Group continues to use the equity methoed
whan an investment in an associate becomes
an imvesiment in a joint venture or an investment
in a joint venture becomes an investment in
an associate. There is no remeasurement 10
fair value upon such changes in ownership
interasts,
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(CONT'D)

(d} Basis of consolidation (cont'd)
Associates and joint venture {equity accounted
investees) (cont'd)

()

When the Group reduces its ownership interest
Im an associate or a joint venture but the Group
continuas to usa the equity mathod, the Group
reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the
gain or loss that had previcusly been recognised
In other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or
loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

Where the group entity transacts with an
associate or joint venture of the Group, profits
and losses resulting from the transactions with
the associate or joint venture are recognised in
the Group's consolidated financial statermeants
only to the extent of interests in the assoclate or
Joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Foreign currency transactions and translation
Functional and presentation currency

The individual financial statements of each
group entity are measured and presanted in the
currency of the primary economic environment
In which the entity operates (i.e. its functional
currency). The consolidated financial statemants
of the Group and the statemeant of financial
pasition and statement of changes in equity
of the Company are presented in Singapore
doltar which is the functional currency of the
Company and the presantation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.

Foreign currency transactions

In preparing the financial statements of the
Individual entities, transactions in currencies
other than the entity’s functional currency are
recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on
the date of the transaction. At the end of each
reparting period, monetary items dencminated
in foreign currencies are retranslated to the
functicnal currancy at the rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Mon-manetary
iterns carned at fair value that are denominated
in forekgn currencies are retransiated at the
rates pravailing on the date when the fair valua
was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currancy are not retranslated.
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Exchange diffarences arising on the satthement
of monetary items, and on retranslation of
monetary items are included in profit or loss
for the period. Exchange differences arising on
the retransiation of non-monetary items carried
at fair value are included in prefit or loss for
the period except for differences arising on the
retranstation of non-monetary items in respect
of which gains and losses are recognised
in other comprehensive income, For such
non-monetary items, any exchange component
of that gain or loss Is also recognised in other
comprahensive income,

Exchange diflerences on foreign cumrency
borrowings refating to assets under construction
for tuture productive use, are includad in the
cost of those assets when they are regarded as
an adjustment to interest costs on those foreign
currency borrowings.

Exchange differences on transactions entered
into in order to hedge certain foreign currency
ricks are descriped in the hedge accounting
policies below [Mota 2(f].

Foreign currency transiation

For the purpose of presenting consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities
of the Group's foreign operations (including
comparatives) are expressed in Singapore
doflars using exchange rates prevalling at
the end of the reporting period. Income and
expense items (including comparatives) are
translated at the average exchange rates for
the pericd, unless exchange rates fluctuated
significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rates at the date of the transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive incomea
and accumulated in a separate component of
equity under the header of foreign currency
translation account.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e.
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of contral over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, ioss of joini conirol over a
Joint venture that includes a foreign operation,
or loss of significant influence over an associate
that includes a Inreign operation), all of the
accumulated exchange differences in respect
of that operation attributable to the Group are
reclassified to profit or loss. Any exchange
differences that have previously been attributed
to non-controling interests are derecognised,
but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.
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(CONT'D)

(e)

Foreign currency transactions and transiation
{cont'd)

Foreign currency translation (cont’d)

In the case of partial disposal (l.e. no loss
of control) of a subsidiary that Includes a
foreign operation, the proporiionate share
of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised In profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or
joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of accumulated exchange
differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign cperation are treated
as assets and Rabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

Net investment in foreign operations

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the transiation of the net investment in
forelgn entities {including monetary items that,
In substance, form part of the net investment in
foreign entities), and of borrowings and other
cumency instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprahensiva income and accumulated in a
separate component of equity under the header
of foreign currency translation account.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial Habilities are
recognised on the Group's statement of
financial position when the Group becomes
a party to the confractual provisions of the
Instrumants.

Effective interest method

The aeffective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
Instrument and of allocating interest income or
expense over the relevant period. The effective
interast rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipls or paymentis
{inclucéng all fees on points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial instrument, or where appropriate,
a shorter period. Income and expenss is
recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial
Instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”.
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Financial assets

All financial assels are recognised and
de-recognised on a trade date where the
purchase or sale of an investment is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the
Investment within the timeframe established
by tha market concerned, and are initially
measurad at fair value plus transaction costs,
except for those financial assels classified as at
fair value through profit or loss which are initially
measured at fair valua.

Financial assels are classified into the
following specified categories: financial assets
“at fair value through profit or loss®, “held-
to-maturity investmeanis®, “available-for-sale”
financial assets and “loans and receivables”
The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of financial assets and is determined
at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair valve through profit or
loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL
where the financial asset is either held for
trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for frading
if (i it has been acquired principally for the
purposa of seling in the near future; or (i) on
initial recogniticn, it is a part of an identified
portfolio of financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or (i) it is a
derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset
held for trading may be designated as
at FVTPL wpon initial recognition if (i) such
designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition Inconsistency
that would otherwize arise; or (i) the financial
asset forms part of a group of financial assets
or financial Eabdlities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair
value basis, in accordance with the Group's
documented risk management or invesiment
strategy, and information about the grouping
Is prowided internally on that basis: or (i) it
forms part of a contract containing one or more
embadded derivatives and FRS 38 Financial
Instruments: Recognifion and Measurement
permits the entire combined contract (assel or
liabibity} to be designated as FVTPL.
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Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (FVTPL) (cont'd)

Financial assets at falr value through profit
or logs are stated at fair value, with any
resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit
or logs incorporates any dividend or interest
earnad on the financial asset and B included
in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in Note 32(e).

Held-to-maturity financial assels

Bonds with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity dates whare the Group has a
positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are
classified as held-to-maturity financial assets.
Subsequent to initial measurement, held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised
cost using the efective interest mathod less
Impairment, with revenue recognised on an
effective yield basis.

Available-for-sale financial assels

Certain shares and debt securities held by
the Group are classified as being avallable
for sala and are stated at fair value. Fair
value is dalermined in the manner described
in Note 32(e). Gains and losses arising from
changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income with the exception of
impairment losses, interest calculated using the
effective interest method and foreign exchange
gains and losses on monetary assets which
ara recognised directly in profit or loss. Whare
tha invastmeant is disposed of or is datarmined
to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss
previcusly recognised in other comprehensive
Income and accumulated in revaluation reserva
I8 raclassified 1o profit or loss.

Dividends on available-for-zale aquity
instruments ara recognised in profit or loss
when the Group's right to receive payments
is established. The fair value of available-
for-sale monetary assets denominated in a
forelgn currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at
end of the reporting period. The change in
fair value attributable 1o translation differences
that resull from a change in amortised cost
of the available-for-sale monetary asset is
recognised in profit or loss, and other changes
are recognised in other comprehensive iIncome.
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Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables that have fixed or
determinable payments that are not guoted in
an active market are classified as "loans and
recaivables”. Loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, bank balances and
cash) are measured at amoriised cost using
the effective interest mathod less impairmeant,
Interest is recognised by applying the effective
interest method, except for short-term
receivables when the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

Derecognition of financial assels

Tha Group deracognises a financial asset only
whan the contractual rights to the cash fiows
from the asset expire, or it transfers tha financial
asset and substantialy all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to controd the transferred asset,
the Group recognises its retained inlersst
in the asset and an associated lability for
amounts it may have to pay, If the Group
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transfarred financial asset, the
Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognise a collateralised borrowing for
the proceeds receied.

Classification as debt or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued
by the Group are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial
liabllity and an equity instrument.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified as either
financial liabilities “at fair value through profit or
loss™ or other financial labllities.

Financial abilities at fair value through profit
or loss (FVTPL)

Financial liabilities are classiied as at FVTPL
where the financial liability is either held for
trading or it is designated as at FWTPL.

A financial kability is classified as held for trading
if (i) it has been incurred principally for the
purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or
(i} it iz a part of an identified portfolio of financkal
instrumants that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or (i} it is a derivative that is
not designated and effective as a hedging
instrumant.
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Financial instruments (cont'd)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss (FYTPL) (cont'd)

A financial liabllity other than a financial
liability held for trading may be designated
as at FVTPL upon initial recognition il () such
designation eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition Inconsistency
that would otherwise arise; or (i) on initial
recognition, the financial liability forms part of a
group of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance
with the Group's documented risk management
or investment strategy, and information about
the grouping |s provided intermally on that bagis;
or (§i) it forms part of a contract containing one
or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 38
permits the entire combined contract (asset or
liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

Financial habilities at fair value through profit
or loss are initially measured at fair value and
subsequently stated at fair value, with any
resultant galn or loss recognised in profit
or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss incorporates any interest paid
on the financial Babiity and is included in the
‘other operating income and expenses’ line
in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income. Fair value is determined
in the manner described in Note 32(e).

Other financial labilities

Trade and other payables are initially measured
at fair value, net of transaction costs, and
are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, with interest
expensa recognised on an effective yield basis.

Interest-bearing bank loans and owverdrafts
are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsaquently measured at amortised cost, using
the eflective interest method. Any difference
between the proceads (net of transaction costs)
and the settlemeant or redemption of bormowings
i recognised over the term of the Dorowings in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy
for borrowing costs [Note 2{r)].

Financial guarantee contract liabilities are
measured initiafly at their fair values and, il
not designated as at FVTPL, subsequently at
the higher of the amount of obligation under
the guarantee recognised as a provision in
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accordance with FRS 37 Provisions, Canlingent
Liabiities and Contingent Assefs and the amount
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation
in accordance with FRS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial Nabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group's obligations
are discharged, cancelled or expired.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

The Group enters Into a varety of derlvative
financial instruments o manage its exposure
to interast rate and foreign exchange rate risk,
Inciuding foreign exchange forward contracts
and interast rate swaps.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value
at tha date a darivative caontract is enterad into
and are subsequantly re-measurad to their
fair value at the end of each reporting period.
The resuiting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss immediately unless the derivative
Is designated and effeclive as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the

recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

The Group designates certain derivatives as
gither hedges of the fair value of recognised
aszsets or liabilities or firm commitments (fair
value hedges). hedges of highly probable
forecast transactions or hedges of foreign
currency risk of firm commitments (cash flow
hedges), or hedges of nat insestments in foraign
operations.

A derivative is presented as a non-curment asset
or a non-current ability if the remaining maturity
of the instrument is more than 12 months and it
Is not expected to be realised or settled within
12 months. Other derivatives are presented as
currant assats or currant Nabilities.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain hedging
instruments, which include derivatives and
non-gerivatives in respect of foreign currency
risk, as either fair value hedges, cash flow
hedges, or hedges of net investments in foreign
operations. Hedges of foreign exchange risk on
firm commitments are accounted for as cash
flow hedges.
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Financial instruments (cont'd)

Hedge accounting (cont'd)

At the inception of the hedge relationship, the
entity documents the relationship between the
hedging instrument and hedged ltem, along with
s risk management ohjectives and its strateqy
for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermora, at the inception of the hedge and
on an ongoing basis, the Group documents
whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in
offsetting changes in falr values or cash flows
of the hedged item.

Fair valve hedge

Changes In the fair value of derivatives that are
designated and qualify as fair value hedges
are recorded in profit or loss for the period
immediatety, together with any changes in the
fair value of the hedged item that is attributable
to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value
of the hedging instrument and the change in
the hedged itemn attributable to the hedged risk
are recognised in the line of the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income
refating to the hedged item.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when
the Group revokes the hedging relationship,
the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. The adjustment to the
carrying amount of the hedged item arising from
the hedged risk is amorized to profit or loss
from that date.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair
value of the derivatives that are designated and
qualify as cash flow hedges ls recognised In
other comprahensive income. The gain or loss
relating to the ineflective portion is recagnised
immediatety in profit or loss as part of other
Income and expenses.

Amounts recognised In other comprahensive
income and accumulated in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss in the period when
the hadged item is recognised in profit or loss
In same line item of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as the
recognized hedged item. Howewver, when the
forecast transaction that is hedged resuits in the
recognition of a non-financial asset or a non-
financial lkability, the gains and losses previously
accumulated in equity are transferred from
equity and included in the initial maasuremant
of the cost of the asset or liability.

323

STATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNT / 145

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

Hedge accounting is discontinued when
the Group revokes the hedging relationship,
the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, or exercised, or no longer qualifies
for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss
accumulated in eguity at thal tima remains in
equity and when the forecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in profit or loss, such
gains and losses are recognised in profit or
loss, or transferred from equity and included In
the initial measurement of the cost of the asset
or Eabliity as described above. When a forecast
transaction Is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss thal was accumulated
in equity is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Hedges of net imvestments in foreign operations
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations
are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges.
Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument
relating 1o the effective portion of the haedge
is recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the foreign cumency
translation account. The gain or loss relating to
the ineffective portion is recognised immediatety
In profit or loss, and is included in the “fair value
adjustments” line of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.

Gains and losses previously recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
in foreign currency translation account are
reclassified in profit or loss in the same way
as exchange differences relating to the foreign
opearation as described in the accounting
policy for foreign currency transactions and
translation as staled in Note 2(g) to these
finrancial statements.

Offsetting arrangements

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount presented in the statement
ol financial position when tha Company and
the Group has a legally enforceabla right to set
off the recognised amounts; and intends either
to setile on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the lability simultaneously. A right
io set-off musi be available as of the date of
the reporting rather than being contingent on a
futre event and must be exercisable by any of
the counterparties, both in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insclency
or bankrupicy.
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(9)

Property, plant and equipment
Measurement

Property, plant and equipment held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes are stated at cost
less any subsequent accumulatad depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses.

Cost Includes professional fees and for
gualifying assets, borrowing cost, capitalised in
accordance with the Group's accounting policy.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

When parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, they
are accounted for as separate items (major
components) of property, plant and equipment.

Revaluation

Certain land and buldings held for use in tha
production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purpose, are stated in the
statement of financial position at thelr revalued
amounts, being the fair value at the date of
revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairmant losses. Revaluations are performed
with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amount does not differ materially from that
which would be determined using fair values at
the end of the reporting period.

Any revaluation Increase arising from the
revaluation of such land and buildings is
recognised in other comprehensive Income
and accumulated in the asset revaluation
reserve, except to the extent that it reverses
a revaluation decrease for the same asset
previcusly recognised in profit or loss, in which
case the increase is credited to profit or loss to
the extent of the decrease previously charged
to profit or loss. A decreasa in carrying amount
ariging from the revaluation of such land and
buildings is charged to profit or loss to the
extent that it exceeds the balance, If any, heid
In the asset revaluation reserve relating to a
previous revaluation of that asset.
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Depreciation

Depreciation is charged so as to write off the
cost or valuation of assets, other than properties
under construction and freshodd land, over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, on the following bases:

Usaful lives
Building on 50 years

freehold land
Leasehold land, buildings Owver the remaining

and improvements lease pericds
ranging 3 to 89
years
Plant and equipment 1-15 years
Motor vehicles 5 - 10 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation mathod are reviewed at each year
end, with tha affect of any changes in astimate
being accounted for on a prospective basis,

Assets held under finance leases are
depreciated over their expecled useful lives
on the same basis as owned assets or, if
there iz no cerlainty that the lessee will obtain
cwnership by the end of the lease term, the
asset shall be fully depreciated over the shortar
of the lzase term and its useful life.

Disposal

The gain or loss arising on disposal or ratirement
of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceads and the carrying amounts of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued
property, the attributable revaluation surplus
remaining in the properties revaluation reserve
is transferred directly (o retained eamings. No
transfer is made from the revaluation reserve
to retained earnings except when an asset is
derecagnisad.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination is
reconnizad as an ascel at the date that control
is acguired (the acquisition date). Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred. the amount of any
non-centrolling interest in the acquiree and
the fair value of tha acquirer's previously held
equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acguired and the liabilities assumed,
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i)

Goodwill (cont'd)

If, after reassessment, the Group's interest in
the fair value of the acquiree's identifiable net
assets exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
Intarasts in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer's previously held equity interast in
the acquiree (If any), the excess Is recognised
Immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.,

Goodwill I8 not amortised but is reviawed for
impairment at least annually. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating wnits
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination. Cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated are tested for
Impalment annually, or more frequently when
there ks an indication that the wnit may be
Impaired, I the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount,
the impairment loss is aflocated first to reduce
the cammying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the wnit and then to the other assets of the unit
pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill = not reversed in a
subsequent period.

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Impairment of assets

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for
Indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Financial assets are considered
to be impaired where thare is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial assat, the estimated future cash flows
of the investment have been impacted.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence
of impairment could include (i} significant
financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or (i) default or delinquency in Interest or
principal payments; or (i} it becoming probable
that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or
financial re-grganisation,
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For certain categones of financial asset, such as
trade receivablas, assels that are assessed not
1o be impaired individually are, in addition,
assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impalrment for a portfoko
of receivables could include the group's past
experience of collecting payments, an increase
in the number of delayed payments, as weil
as observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default
on receivablas.

For financial assets carried al amortised cost,
the amount of the impairment is the difference
between the asset's carrying amount and the
prasant valua of estimated Tulure cash Bows,
discounted at the original effective intarast rate.

For financial assets that are cared at cost,
the amount of the impairmant loss is measured
as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Such Impairment loss will not be reversed In
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset
Is reduced by the impairment loss directly
for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. When a trade recaivable
Is uncollectible, it is written off against the
aflowance account, Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are against the
allowance account, Changes in the carrying
amount of the allowance sccount are recognised
in profit or loss.

Faor financial assets measured at amortised cost,
if, in a subseguent period, the amount of the
Impalment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an evant occcurring
after the impairment loss was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss 1o the extent
the carrying amount of tha financial asset at
the date the impairment & reversed does not
excead whatl the amortised cost would have
been had the impaiment not been recognised,

When an avallable-for-sale financial asset is
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains
or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit
or loss,
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(i Impairment of assets (cont'd)
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets
excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting pericd, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
non-tangible assets 1o datarming whather thare
Is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impalrment loss. If any such indication
gxists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

Where it i not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate
assets are also allocated to individual cash-
generating units (CGU), or otharwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be identified.

Recoverabla amouwnt is the higher of fair value
less costs to sell and value in use. In assassing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a
pra-tax discount rate that reflects cumant market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is
estimated to be bess than its carmrying amount, the
carrying amount of the assat (CGLU) is reduced
o its recoverable amount. An impairment loss
Is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
urdess the relevant asset is carmied at a revalued
amount, in which case the impalrment loss is
treated as a revaluation dacrease.

Where an impalrment loss subsequently reverses,
the carmying amount of the asseat (cash-genarating
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased
Camying amount does not exceed the carmyng
amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
{cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of
an impalrment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, wnless the relevant assal i carmed
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal
of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
Increase.
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Intangible assets with indefinite usaful lives and
intangible assets not yal available for use are
tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the asset may be
impaired.

Investment properties

Investment properties comprise complated
properties and properties under construction
or redevelopment held to eam rental and/or for
capital appreciation. Investment properties are
measured initially at cost, Including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair
value. Gains or losses arising from changes
In the fair value of investment properties are
recognised in profit or loss for the period in
which they arise.

Investment properties are derecognisaed
upon disposal or when they are permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic
benefit is expected from their disposal. Any
gain or loss on derecognition of the property
[calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset) is includad in profit or loss in the
perod in which the property is derecoanised.

Transfers are made to or from Imvestment
properties when and only when there is a change
in use. For a transter from investment property
to owner occupled property, the deemed costs
of property for subsequent accounting Is its
fair walug at the date of change in use. For
a transfer from owner occupied property to
investment property, the property is accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy for
property, plant and equipment [Mote 2(g)] up to
the date of change In use.

Development properties

Development properties comprise properties
in the couwrse of development and completed
properties held for sale in the ordinary course
of business.,

Properties in the course of development are
stated at cost plus attributable profits less
progress billing, Progress billings received from
customers prior to completion are presented
as asdvance bilings within “trade and other
payables™ and progress billings not yet paid
by customers are presented within “trade and
ather receivables®.
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Development properties (cont'd)

Completed properties held for sale are stated at
the lower of cost and estimated net realisable
value. Cost Is determined by apportionment
of the total land cost, development costs
and borrowing costs capitalised attributable
to propertias. Nel realisable value takes into
account the estimated seling price, less cost
to be incurred In marketing and sefling, and
the expected costs to completion, where
appropriate.

Cost ol development properties comgrises costs
that relate directly to the development, such as
cost of land and construction and related costs
that are attributable to development activities
and can be allocated to the development
project, including attributable borrowing costs
[Note 2.

When losses are expected, lull allowance ara
recognised as expenses Immediately based
on best estimates of net realisable value and
estimated costs to completion.

Lands held for development and cosls
aftributable to the development activities which
are held for future development where no
significant development has been undertaken
is stated at cost less impairment loss (if any).

The Group's policy for revenue recogniticn in
refation to development properties is described
under "Revenue recognition™ [Note 2{qjj.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises
direct materials and direct labour costs where
applicable and those overheads that have
been incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is
calculated using the weighted average method.

Mat realisable value represents the estimated
selling price less all estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in
marketing, seling and distribution. Allowancea
Is made where necessary for obsolete, slow-
moving and defective inventories.
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A

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the consclidated
statement of cash flows comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, bank overdrafts
and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents
in the consolidated statement of cash flows
exclude encumbered fixed deposits.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract
can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs
are recognised by reference to tha stage
ol complation of the contract activity at the
end of reporting period, as measured by the
progortion that contract cost incurred for work
performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract cost, except where this would not
be representative of the stage of completion.
Variations in contract work, claims and incentive
paymants are included to the axtant that the
amount can be measured reliably and its receipt
is considered probabie.

Whera the outcome of a construction contract
cannit be estimated reliably, contract revenue
Is recognized to the extent of contract costs
incurred that it is probable will be recoverable.
Conlract costs are recognised as expanses in
the periods in which they are incurred. When it
is probable that total contract cost will exceed
total contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognized as an expense immadiately.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenaver
the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as receivables atl the amount
of the Group's net investment in the leases,
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
perods so as to reflect a constant penodic
rale of return on the Group's net investment
outstanding in respect of the leases.
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(CONT'D)
(o) Leases (cont'd)
The Group as lessor (cont'd)

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease urless another systemartic
basis is more rapresantative of the time pattern
in which the benefit attributable to the leased
asset Is diminished. Initial direct cost incurred
In negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised as an expense over the
lease tarm on the same basis as the lease
income.

The Group as lessee

Assetls held under finance leases are recognised
as assals of the Group at their fair value at
the incaption of the lease or, if lower, at the
present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding labllity to the lessor is
Included in the statement of financial position
as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments
are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as
to achieve a constant rate of interest on tha
remaining balance of the lability. Finance
charges are charged directly to profit or loss,
undess they are directly attributable to qualifying
assets, in which case they are capitalised in
accordance with the Group's general policy on
borrowing costs [Note 2(r)]. Contingent rentals
are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which they are incurred.

Rentals payable under operating leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over tha term of the relevant lease
unless another systemalic basis is maore
representative of the time pattern in which
economic benafits from the leased asset are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under
operating leases are recognised as expenses in
the pericd in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. Tha agareqate benefit
of incentives is recognised as a reduction of
rental expense on a straight-fine basis, except
where another systematic basis is more
repraganiative of the time pattern in which
economic benafits from the leased asset are
consumed.
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Provisions

Provisicns are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the
Group will be required 1o settle the obligation,
and a refiable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the
best estimate of the consideration required to
settle the present obligation al the end of the
reporting pericd, taking into account the risks
and wncertainties sumounding the obligation,
Where a provision s measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present cbiigation,
its carrying amount is the present value of thosa
cash flows.

When some or ali of the economic benefils
required to settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party, the receivable
is recognised as an asset i it is virually certain
that reimbursament will be received and tha
amount of the receivable can be measured
reliably.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the
sale of goods and rendering of services in
the ordinary course of the Group's activities,
Revenue is reduced for goods and services tax,
estimated customer retums, rebates and other
similar allowances.

The Group recognises revenue when the
amount of revenue and related cost can be
reliably measured, when it & probable that
the collectability of the related receivables is
reasonably assured and whean the specific criteria
for each of the Group's activities are met,

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised
whan all the following conditicns are satisfied:

= The Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership

P v

W LD LRUURED,
*  The Group retains neither continuing
managerial involvement to the degree

usually associated with ownership nor
effective contrel over the goods sold;

+  The amount of revenue can be measured

reliabby;
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(CONT'D)

Revenue recognition (cont'd)

Sale of goods (cont'd)

* |t is probable that the economic benefits
assoclated with the transaction will flow to
the entity; and

* The costs incurred or to be Incurred in
respect of the transaction can be measured
refiably.

Revenue from sales of development properties
Revenue from completed properties is
recognised when the risks and rewards
of ownership have been transferred 1o the
purchaser gither through the transfer of legal
title or equitable interest in a property.

Revenue recognition on partly completed
properties held for sale s based on the following
methods:

* For sale of partly completed development
properties in Singapore under progressive
payment scheme, profit is recognised
upon the signing of sale contracts and
payment of the first instalment which
comesponds 1o 20% of the estimated profit
aftributable to the actual sale contracts
signed. Subseguent recognition of profit
is based on the percentage of completion
method as construction progresses. The
percentage of work completed is measured
based on the construction and related
costs incurred to date as a proportion of
the estimated total construction and related
cosis;

*  For sale of partly completed developmant
properties in Singapore under deferred
payment scheme and ovaerseas
developrmeant properties, profit is recognised
only upon the transfer of significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the properties
o the purchasers.

In cases where transfer of significant risks
and rewards of ownership coincides with the
time the dewelopment units are delivered to
the purchasers, revenus is recognised upon
completion of construction; and when legal title
passes to the buyer or when equitable interest
In the property vests to the buyer upon release
of the handover notice to the buyer, whichever
is earlier.
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Construction contracts
Revenue from construction contracls is
recognised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy on construction contracts as
disclosed in Mate 2(n).

Revenue from hotel operations

Revenue is recognised when goods and
services have been provided to the customer
and the costs in relation to the goods and
services can be reliably measured.

Services rendered

Revenue from a confract to provide services
is recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract. The stage of
completion of the contract is determined as
follows:

* Installation fees are recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of the
instaflation, determined as the proportion of
tha total time expected to install that has
elapsed at the end of the reporling pericd
excapt that revenue from services of short
duration are recognized on completion of
SAMICES;

=  Servicing fees included in the price of
products sold are recognised by referance
to the proportion of the total cost of
providing the senices for the product sold,
taking into account historical trends in the
number of services actually provided on
past goods sold; and

*  Revenue from time and material contracts
& recognised al the contraciual rates
as labour hours are delivared and diract
expenses are incurred.

Rental income

The Group’s policy for recognition of revenue
from operating leases is described above in
MNote 2{a).

Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal cutstanding and at the
effective interast rate applicable.

Dividend income

Dividend incoma from investment is recognised

when tha shareholders' righls to receive
payment have been established.
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Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributabla to the
acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their Intended use or sale,
are added fo the cost of those assets, unfil
such time as the assets are substantially ready
for thelr Intended use or sale. Investment
income eamed on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets s deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the pericd in which they are
incurred.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incramental costs directly attributable to the
Issue of ordinary shares and share options are
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of
any tax effects. Dividends are deducted from
shareholders' equity and recorded as a liability
when declared payable. Proposed dividends
which are subject to shareholders' approval are
not deducted from equity and are not recorded
as abdities.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised as expenses
whan employeas have rendered the services
entiting them to the contributions. Paymants
made to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes, such as the Singapore Central
Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to
defined contribution plans where the Group's
obligations under the plans are equivalent to
those arising in a defined contribution retirement
benefit plan.

Employees’ leave entitlement

Employee entitliements to annual leave are
recognsed when they accrue to employees.
A provision ks made for the estimated lkability
for leave as a result of services rendered by
empioyees up to the end of reporting period,
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Income tax
Income tax expense represents the sum of the
tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current fax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from
profit as reported in profit or loss because
it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are not taxable or tax
deductible. The Group's liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that
have been enacted or substantively enacted in
countries whera the Company and subsidiaries
operate by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on the difference
between the carrying amounts of assels
and liabilities in the financial statemenis and
the corresponding tax bases used In the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liablities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profits will be avallable against
which deductible temporary differences can
be utiised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised If the temporary difference arises
from goodwill or from the initial recognition
{other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferrad tax lkabilities are recogmnised for taxabla
temporary differences arising on Investments
In subsidiaries, associatas and joint veanlures,
except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary difference and it
Is probable that the temporary difference will
not raversa in the foreseeabls future. Defarred
tax assels arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investmants
and interests are anly recognised o the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future,
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(CONT'D)
(u) Income tax (cont'd)
Deferred tax (cont'd)

The camrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
and reduced to the extent that it iz no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
availabia to allow all or part of the assets to be
recoverad,

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period
whan the liability is settled or when the asset
is realised based on the tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Except for investment properties and hotel
properties measured using the fair value model,
the measurement of defarred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group
expecls, al the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of ks
assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax
lizbilities and deferred tax assets for investment
propertes that are measured using the fair value
medel, the carrying amounts of such properties
are presumead to be recovered through sale,
unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a
business model of the Group whose business
objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodiad in the investment
property over tima, rather than through sale.
The Group has not rebutted the presumption
that the carrying amount of the investment
properties will be recovered entirely through
sale.

Deferred tax asseis and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to
sat off curant tax assels against current fax
liabilities and when they relate to income laxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends 1o settie its current tax assets
and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an
expensa of income in profit or loss, except when
they relate 1o items credited or dabited outsida
profit or loss (either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity), in which case
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the tax is also recognised either in other
compreheansive income or directly in equity, or
where they arise from the initial accounting for
business combination. In case of a business
combination, the tax effect is taken into account
in calculating goodwill or detesmining the excess
of the acquirer's interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingant liabilities over cost.

(v} Segment reporting
An operating segment |3 a component of the
Group that engages in business activities from
which it may eam revenue and incur expenses,
Including revenue and expenses that relate
to transactions with any of the Group's other
companents.

The Group determines and presents operating
segments based on Information that is provided
internally to the Chief Executive Olficer (*CED"),
who is the Group's chief operating decision
maker. All operating segments’ operating results
are reviewed regularly by the Group’s CEQ to
make dacision aboul resources lo be allocated
to the segments and assess its performance,
and for which discrete financial infermation ks
avallabla.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in Note 2, management is required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about
the carrying amounts of assets and Habilities that are
nat readily apparent from other sources, Tha estimates
and assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revislons to accounting estimates
ara recognised in the pericd in which tha estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period or in tha
pericd of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in appiying the Group’s accounting
policies

Tha following are the critical judgements, apart
from those involving estimations (see balow), that
management has made in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements.



154 / STATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNT

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES
OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT'D)

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting
policies (cont'd)

Termination of main contractor

In 2014, the Group terminated the senices of the
previous main contractor for Seletar Park Residence
on grounds of unsatisfactory performance, The Group's
subsidiary, Asplenium Land Pte Ltd ("Asplenium”) had
recently recelved a Partial Award from the arbitration
Tribunal. The Tribunal ruled inter alia thal Asplenium
was enfitled 1o terminate the previows main contractor's
employment under the Contract based on Termination
Certificates Issued by the Project Architect for thetr
failure to comply with a number of Architect's Directions
and failure to proceed with diigance and due expedition
within the relevant prescribed pericds pursuant to
the Conditions of Contract between the two parties.
On 7 November 2017, the pravious main contracior
dissatisfied with the outcome of the partial award on
liabllity and filed an application for leave to appeal on
questions of law out of the award,

As at 31 December 2017, the ensuing legal and
arbitration proceedings were still on-going. It was
advised by the Group's legal counsel that the Tribunal's
findings are final In relation to the issues of lability of
the Parties while the guantum and costs will be dealt
with in the next phase of the Arbitration. No provision
was made in relation to such termination. Legal and
professional expenses of $315,000 (2016: 56,472,000)
have been recorded in the profit or loss for the year
ended 31 December 2017,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key assumptions concaming the future, and other key
spurces of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting
period, that have a significant rsk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are discussad
below:

Allowance for diminution in valve for development
properties

Development properties in the course of development
and completed properties are stated at lower of cost
and estimated net realisable value, assessed on an
individual property basis, When it is probable that the
total development costs will exceed the total projected
revenue, the amount in excess of net realisable value
is recognised &8s an expense immediatedy.

The process of evaluating the net realisable value of
each property is subject to management judgemeant and
the effect of assumptions in respect of development
plans, timing of sale and the prevailing market
conditions. Management performs cost studies for each
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property, taking into account the costs incurred 1o date,
the development status and costs to complete each
development property, Any future variation in plans,
assumpticns and estimates can potentially impact the
carrying amounts of the respective properties.

During the year, a wrile-back of allowance for
diminution in value of $1,784,000 (2016: an allowance
for diminution in value of $3,649,000) was mada on
Singapore development properties, taking Into account
and with reference to past sales of the respective
properties and that of comparable properties, location
and market conditions.

The carrying amount of development properlies are
disclosed in Note B. Allowance for diminution in value
is recognised as “other operating expenses” and “cost
of sales” in profit or loss and disclosed in Mote 25 to
the financial statements.

Fair valve measurement and valuation processes
The Group carries its hotel properies [Note 9] and
investment properties [Mote 10] at fair value based
on independent professional valuations or internal
valuations.

In determining fair values, the valuers have used
valuation techniques (including direct comparison
mathod, income method, capitalisation method,
discounted cash fiow method and residual land vaiue
methoed) which involve certain estimates and significant
unobservable inputs which are disclosed in Notes 9 and
10. The direct comparison method involves the analysis
of comparable sales of simitar properties and adjusting
prices to those reflective of the investment properties.
The investment method capitalises an income stream
inlo a present value using single-year capitalisation
rates. Capitalisation method involves assassment of the
income eaming capacity and capitalised it at the adopled
capitalisation rate to derive a core value. Discounted
cash flow method recognises the time value of monay
by estimating the net present value of future cash flows,
In the residual land valua methoed of valuation, tha total
gross development costs and developer's profit are
deducted from tha gross development value to arriva at
the residual value of tha property under development.
The gross development value is the estimated value of
the property assuming satisfactory completion of the
deveicpment as at the date of vaiuation. in relying on
valuation reports, the management has exercised its
judgement and is satisfied that the valuation methods
and astimates are reflective of current market conditions.

Information relating to the valuation techniques and
inputz used in determining the fair value of hotel
properties and investment properties are disciesed in
Motes 9 and 10 respectively to the financial statements.
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (contd)
Deferred tax liabilities arising from increase in the
carrying amount of investment in Grand Hotel Group
The Group's interest in Grand Hotel Group ("GHG") is
held by TSH Australia Holdings Pte Ltd (“TAHAUD®),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, through
Tuan Sing (Australia) Trust (“TSAT) and Tuan Sing
Real Estate Trust ("TSRET"). GHG comprises of the
Grand Hotel Trust (*GHT™) and its controlled entities
and Grand Hotel Company Pty Lid ("GHC") and is
controlled entities. The units in GHT are ‘stapled’ to
the shares of GHC. GHT is not liable for tax under the
Australian tax kegistation provided the taxable income
(including any assessable componant of capital gains
from sale of investment assets) is fully distributed to unit
holders in each year.

TAHALD is subject to income taxes in the Australian
jurisdiction. The Group has estimated deferred tax
ligbility artsing from an increase in the carrying amount
of its imsestments in GHG amounting to AS44,006,000
(2016: AB32,509,000) or equivalent to $45,339,000
(2016: $34,034,000) [Note 17]. In estimating this
amount, the Group considers the taxable gains to be
the excess of Group’s share of the fair value of net
assets of GHG over the tax cost base of the securities
in GHG held by the Group.

Future actual tax liability when incurred and payable
will differ from this estimate to the extent that the fulure
realisation of values from the investment in GHG differs
from the amount of fair value of the assets currently
astimated. It would similarly be affected by any change
in tax losses and tax base which have yet to be agreed
with tha Austrafian tax authorities.

Alfowance for doubtful receivables and refundable
trade deposit

Allowance for doubtful recelvables and refundable trade
deposit are based on an evaluation of the collectability
of recaivables. A considerable amount of judgemant
is required In assessing the ultimate realisation of
these receivables, including current creditworthiness,
past collection history of each customer and angoing
dealings with them. If the financial conditions of
the customers were to deteriprate, resulling in an
impairment of thesr ability to make payments, additional
allowance may be required. The carrying amount of
trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 6 to
the financial statements.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Produwcls and services from which reportable segments
derive their revenue

For management purpose, the Group is organised into
strategic business units based on theair products and
services. The Group’s principal business operating
unitg, during and at the end of the reparting pericd,
ara Property, Hotets Investment, Industrial Services and
Ohher investments, Accordingly, the Group's reportable
operating segments under FRS 108 are as follows:

Segment Principal activities

Property Development of properties for sae,
property investment and provizion
of property management senices
In Singapore, Australia and China.

Holels Invesiment Irvestrmant in hotels in Austraia,

Industrial Sendces Trading and markating of indusiral
commodities, dstribution of tyres
and re-treading of fyres, as well
as manufacturing of polypropylena
woven bags in Malaysia. The
tyres distribution and re-treading
business was discontinued at the
end of the cument financial year.

Other Imvestment Irvestments in GuiTech, a printed
circult boards manufacturer

with operations in  China.

Corporate and Prerdsion of comporate-level senices.
Others

Segment revenue represents revenue generated

from external and internal customers. Segmant profit

represents the profit eamed by each segment after

albocation of central administrative costs and finance

costs. This is the measure reported to the chief

oparating decision maker for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance,

Management monitors the operating results of each of
its business unit for the purpose of making decisions
on resource allocation and performance assessment.
Corporate and Others are managed on a group basis
and are not allocated to operating segments. Segment
assets and liabilities are presented net of inter-segment
balances, Inter-segment pricing is determined on arm's
length basis.
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)
Segment revenues and results
Information regarding each of the Group's reportable segments is presented below.

Inter-
Hotels  Industrial Other Corporate Segment Total
Property Investment® Services' Investment’ and Others” Eliminations Consolidated
£'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 £'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Revenuea
External revenus 100,346 121,277 136,119 - 180 - 357,922
Inter-segment revenus 22,549 2,052 - - 25,767 (50,368) -
N M. L] = 247 [ 15
Results
Gross profit 53,933 28,197 3,801 - 17,756 (38,659) 65,028
Other operating incomea 3,976 - 1,462 - (2,237) 4,145 7346
Destribution costs (4,052) - (2,025} - - - (6,077)
Administrative expenses {17.779) (23,836) (3,490) N (2,529) 21,366 (26,268)
Other operating expenses (2.893) (36) (415) = (2,929) 2,883 (3,390
Share of results of an equity
accounted investes - - - 15,677 - - 15,877
Interest incomea 4,332 4 1,117 - 227 (1,530) 4,150
Finance costs _23915) - (1} = (10,787) 1,530 33,173
Profit before tax and
fair value adjustments 13,602 4,329 449 15,677 (499) {10,265) 23,293
Fair value adjusiments 44,525 - - 289 - - 44,814
Profit before tax 88127 4,329 445 15,966 (499) {10,265) 68,107
Income tax expenses {1,195) {1,139) 22 - (2,949) - (5,261)
Profit for the year 56,932 3,190 4T 15,966 (3,448) (10,265) 62,846
Profit attributable to
Owners of the Company 56,933 3,190 asa 15,966 (3,448) (10,265) 62,734
Mon-controling interests 1 - 113 - - - 112
Profit for the year 56,932 3,180 4M 15,966 (3,448) {10,265) 62,846
Hotes:

1. Mo revanus is raported under “Oihes irveatment” 58 1he Group equity Bccounts od s Freesiment in GuiTech

2. “Corporate and Others” refers. o the aggregalion of provision of corporate-level senices by the Company 1o The vanous subsidianes and charged as such. They
ore sliminabed at group-kvel upon consclidation.

3. Results of GHG's commercial, retail and car park components, which are curenty leased oul 1o vanous lenants, o included in the Property Segment

4, Tyre Distribution Unit included in Indusiral Servdces Segment has disposad of #s opemations as at 31 December 2017, The discontinued cperation has contribuled
revenua of $6.7 million, groas profil af $1.0 milion, loss belors tax of §1.5 millon and icas afler tax of $1.2 millon for (ke year ended 31 December 2017,
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)
Segment revenues and results (cont'd)
Inter-
Hotels  Industrial Other Corporate Segment Total
Property Investment’ Services' Investment' and Others? Eliminations Consolidated
£'000 $'000 £'000 £'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
2016
Revenue
Extemal revenue 147,941 121,748 134,148 - 180 - 404,018
Inter-segment revenus 2337 1,868 = = 18,070 (43,308 =
171,312 123,617 134,148 - 18,250 (43,308 404,018
Results
Gross profit 70,543 28,784 5643 - 10,782 {31,368) B4,384
Oither operating incoma 13,987 27 263 445 11,850 {22,782) 4,490
Distribution costs (3,362) = (2,505 = = = (5,867)
Administrative expenses (21263 (24,804) {3,678) 1 {2,367) 22,370 {29.741)
Other operating expenses (24,064) - (49 {1,794) 2474 15,654 7.739)
Share of results of an equity
accounted investee - - - 13,465 - - 13,466
interest income 4120 23 1,840 - 16 (1,534) 4,465
Finance costs 121,959 - = - (5.282) 1,534 {25,716)
Profit before tax and
fair value adjustments 18,002 4,030 2205 12,118 17,473 {16,086) ar.ra2
Fair value adjustments 2,198 - - 138 - - 2,336
Profit before tax 20,200 4,030 2,205 12,256 17.473 (16,086 40,078
Incoms tax expenses (2.989) {1.271) (537) = (1.475) = (8,272
Profit for the year 17,211 2,758 1,668 12,256 15,908 {18,086) 33,806
Profit attributable to
Craners of the Company 17.327 2,759 1,331 12,258 15,808 {16,088) 33,585
Non-controlling interasts {1186) - 3ar - - - 221
Profit for the year 17,21 2,759 1,668 12,256 15,908 {16,086) 33,806
Maotes:

1. Mo revenss is reported under "Oites rreestmend” as the Group equity acoounts Toe iks mvesiment in GuiTech

2. "Corporate and Others” refers bo The aggregalion of provision of corporate-level senices by the Company 1o The vanous subskdanes and changed as such. They
are shminabed Al group -l upon conpoldaion

3, Fesuis ol GHG's investmant peoporiies hsve been nciassfied #om Hotels investment Segment 1o Propesty Segment for commescinl, misd snd car park
COMmponants, which ace curenty lased oul 1o vanous anants, The mcihssication inchuded el of 3413 milion, far value gan ol 0.3 millon, gross proll
od 5374 milion and proft for the year of $14.2 midlion.

4, Tyre Distibution Un# included in industnial Serdoss Sagmerd has discontinued its aperations a5 a1 31 December 2017. The disconlinued operation has contributed
revenue of 518.3 millon, gross peoft of £2.8 milion, loas beloes 1ax of 50.9 milion and loss after 1ax of $0.7 milion for the year ended 31 December 2017.
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Segment assets, liabilities and other segment information

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Hotels  Industrial Other Corporate Total
Frog;ort]r Investment Services Investment' and Others Consolidated
ooo0 $'000 $£'000 £'000 $'000 £'000
2017
Assets
Segment assets 2,349,160 13,823 73,673 - 108,430 2,544 986
Investments in an equity
accounted investee - - - 93,185 - 93,185
Total assats 2,349,160 13,823 73,573 83,185 108,430 2,638,171
Liabilities
Segment liabilities (77,593) (17,382) (16,665) (5,432) (5,395) (122,467)
Loans and borrowings {1,229,756) = = - (228,364) {1,458,120)
Income tax payable and
daferred tax abdities {14,535) (275) __(292) = (46,205)  (61,307)
Total liabilities (1,321,884) (17,65T7) (16,957) (5,432) (278,964) (1,641,894)
Met assets/(liabilities) 1,027,276 (3,834) 56,616 87,753 {171,534) 996,277
Other information
Capital expenditure 4,159 11 a3 - - 4,263
Depreciation of property, plant
and equipment 7,383 14 azs - - 7,725
Write back of allowance for
diminution in value for
development properties 1,784 - - - - 1,784
Revaluation gain of properties 33,846 - - - - 33,846
Fair value gain on investment
properies 44 525 - - - - 44,525
Fair value gain on financial
instruments - = = 289 - 289
2016
Assets
Segment assets 1,932,426 13,833 84,515 = 8,730 2,039,504
Investments in an aquity
accounted investes - T - 83,579 = 83,579
Total assats 1,832,426 13,833 84,515 B3,579 8,730 2,123,083
Liabilities
Segment liabilities {61,887) (17 ,408) (25,247) (5,432 (3.830) (113,814)
Loans and bomowings {941,231) - - - (79,562) (1,020,793}
Income tax payable and
deferred tax habiities (21,925) - (819) - (35,476) (58,020
Total liabikties {1.025,043) (17,408} (25,866) (5,432) {11B,878) (1,192,627)
Net assets/(liabilities) 907,383 (3,575} 58,649 78,147 {110,148) 930,456
Other information
Capital expenditure 4,07 = 27 & - 4,008
Depreciation of property, plant
and aquipmeant 7,340 18 414 - - 7072
Allowance for diminution in value
for developmeant propartias 3,649 - - - - 3,649
Write-back of recognisaed
corporate guarantee no lenger
raquired - - - 445 - 445
Revaluation gain of properties 16,980 - - - - 16,980
Fair value gain on investment
properfies 2,198 - = = - 2,188
Fair value gain on financial
instruments = i = 138 = 138
Maote:

1. No capital expenditure and depreciafion ane reporied wider "Ofher Invesiment™ as the Group squity accounts jor ils investment in GulTech
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4 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)
Geographical information

Geographically, management reviews the performance of the businesses in Singapore, Australia, China, Malaysia, indonesia,
Europe and other ASEAN countries,

In presenting information on the basis of geographical segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical location
of external customers. Non-current assets are based on the geographical location of the assets.

Revenue from

external customers MNon-current assets
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 £'000 §'000 $'000
Singapore 175,753 202,779 1,450,029 958,520
Australia 140,231 140,606 678,550 646,300
China 13,757 26,40 6,407 6,447
Malaysia 9,904 16,520 1,301 1,539
Indonesia 12,677 9,254 - -
Other ASEAN countrigs 5,351 7.350 - -
Others 249 1,108 - -
357,922 404,018 2,136,287 1,613,806

Haole:
1, - Otrver ASEAN counfries compriss Vielinam, Cambodia, Brunel and Laos with nevenue in each couniry constifuting nol mone than 1% of total Group neverus.

Other segment information

Included in the Group revenue of $357.9 milion (2016: $404.0 milion) were sales of approximately $38.1 million
(2016 $44.7 million) to a customer that contributed 10% or more to the Group’s revenue for both years in the Industrial
Sernvices segment.

] CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Group Company

2017 2018 2017 2018

$'000 $'000 £'000 £'000

Cash at banks and on hand 62,381 39,271 13,787 301

Fixed deposits 151,673 117,323 74,950 =
Amounts held under the Housing Developers

{Project Account) Rules 2,789 7,004 - =

216,843 163,688 B8, 73T N

Cash and bank balances comprise cash and fixed deposits held by the Group which are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Deposits earned interest ranging from 0.1% to
4.2% per annum (2016: 0,1% to 3.4% per annum) and for tenures ranging from 7 days to 3 years (2016 7 days to 3 years),

Withdrawals of amounts heid under the project accounts are restricted to payments for expenditure incurred on development
properties and are subject to the provisions in the Housing Developers (Project Account) Rules in Singapore.

The carrying amounts of the cash and bank balances approximate their fair values at the end of the reporting pericd.

Further details regarding the exposure 1o interest rate risk, contraciual and affective intarest rates and foreign currency
denomination of the cash and bank balances are disclosed undar MNote 32 to the financial statements.
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§ CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CONT'D)

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the consolidated cash and cash equivalenis comprise the
following:
Group

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of cash flows
Cash and bank balances (as per statements of financial position) 216,843 163,688
Encumbered fixed deposits and bank batances (65,698) {67,792)

151,145 95,806

As at 31 Decemnber 2017, the Group had cash and cash equivalents placed with banks in China amounting to $78,852,000
{2016:; $80,344,000), the repatriation of which into Singapore is subject to the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations in
China. Of which amount, $63,851,000 (2016; $65,052,000) were fixed deposits for tenures ranging from 1 to 3 years
{2016: 1 to 3 years) but were classified as current on the basis that they were used to secure a facility in Singapore which
could be cancelled at short notice by the borrower and the sum of deposits released without significant penalty and
changes in valua.

As at 31 December 2017, cash and bank balances amounting to $76,491,000 (2016; $77,703,000) was pledged to banks
to secure credit facilities and designated for specific operaticns. Information relating to the Group's loans and borrowings
is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Encumbered fixed deposits and bank balances 65,698 67,782
Cash and bank balances designated for specific operations 10,793 8,811
76,491 77,703
B TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
Note £'000 £'000 $'000 $'000
Trade
Trade debtors 27,422 85,232 - =
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (538) {179) - -
26,886 85,053 -
Amounts due from related parties 16 31,040 35183 ozt
57,926 120,246 - -
Non-trade
Deposits 17,086 13,219 11,820 7,903
Prepayments 3,678 3,567 161 131
interesi receivabies 4,434 2,338 &0 &
Sundry deblors 5,567 6,922 180 az
Advances to suppliers 521 103 = =
Tax recoverable 477 110 - -
31,763 26,259 12,221 8,066
Less: Allowance for doubtful receivables (129) (124) (72) 72)
31,634 26,135 12,1489 T 554
Amount due from related partias 16 9,324 12,412 13 -
40,958 38,547 12,162 T o84
Less: Mon-current portion {5,057) - = =
93,827 158,793 12,162 7904
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)

Trade Debtors

In the previous year, included in the trade debtors
werg unbilled recaivables of $684,547,000 which related
to the remaining sales consideration on completed
development properties for sale. As at 31 December
2017, trade debtors of 85,057,000 were classified
as non-current for progress billings receivable on
development properties which were sold under tha
deferred payment scheme.

During the financial year, management noted that two
trade debtors who are related parties were previously
classified as external parties. Accordingly, $22,984,000
that was previously classified and presented as “Trade
deblors™ as atl 31 December 2016 has been re-
classified as "Amounts due from redated parties — trade”,
The amounts due from these two related parties at
31 December 2017 and 31 December 2015 amounted
to 20,310,000 and $21,081,000 respectively,

Deposits in respect of acquisition of lands
Included in the carrying amount of deposits as at
31 Decamber 2017 were deposits amounting fo:

a) 311,745,000 (2016: §7.830,000) paid to a
related party for the purchase of shares in
two Singapore-incorporated companies whose
subsidiary is the beneficial owner of four plots

Analysis of allowance for doubtful receivables:

STATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNT / 141

NOTES TO THE
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of land in Batam, Indonesia. The acquisition has
not been completed at the end of the reporting
period; and

b} 54,887,000 (2016: 54,983,000) relating to a plot
of land of approximately 80,200 square meaires
(2016: 60,200 square metres} in Jiaozhou,
China which was pending for the issuance of
the land title dead. The land title deed has since
been obtained in January 2018,

The deposits have been assessed to be placed with
counterparties that are creditworthy and accordingly,
no allowance for potential non-recovery of the deposit
is required.

Amounts due from related parties - trade

Inchuded in the carrying amount as at 31 December
2017 were unbilled rent revenue of $212,000
{2016: 3221,000) relating to rent-free period given to
redated party lessees [Nate 16].

Details of collateral

As at 31 December 2017, trade and other receivables
amounting to $9,706,000 (2016: $10,530,000) included
in the above balances were mortgaged to banks to
secure credit facilities for the Group. Information relating
to the Group's loans and borrowings iz disclosed in
Mote 13 to the financial statemants.

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Trade (536) (179) - =
Mon-trada {129) (124) (72) (72}
(665) {303) (72) {72)
Movements in allowance for doubtful receivables
At 1 January (303) (349) (72) {72}
Exchange differences on consolidation 10 8 - -
Amaunts written off 53 B0 - -
Allowance made 25 (425) (52) - -
At 31 December (BBS) (303) (72) {72)
Bmmlpnin afl leadn samalemislas
RIS Ul WaUT VST auies
Tha carrying amount of trade and other recelvables Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are

approsemates thair fair values at the end of tha raporting
wear. Further detalls regarding the exposure to foreign
currency denominated trade and other receivables are
disclosed in Note 32 to the financial statements.
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generally on 7 to 120 days {(2016: 7 to 120 days)
credit term. They are recognised at their original
invoice amounts which represent their fair values on
initial recognition. The Group assesses the potential
customer's credit quality and determines credit limits to
be allowed before accepling any new customer. Cradit
limits granted to customers are reviewed regularhy.
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B TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT'D)
Analysis of trade receivables (cont'd)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

The Group’s trade receivables that were impaired at the end of the reporting pericd and the alliowance for doubtful

recaivables are disclosed balow:

Group
2017 2016
£'000 $'000
Trade receivables, net
Not past due and not impaired 41,640 102,961
Past due but not impaired® 16,286 17,285
. Bre26 120,246
Impaired receivables - collectively assessed™ 142 160
Less: Allowance for doubtiul receivables (142) (160)
Impaired receivables - individually assessed
Past due for more than 36 months or no response to repayment demands™ 394 19
Less: Allowance for doubtiul recaivables (324) {19)
57,926 120,246
Notes:
i} Aging of trade receivables that were past dus but not impaired:
< 3 months 7.923 11,108
3 months 1o & months 4,108 2,533
& months to 12 months 4,241 3,442
> 12 moanths 14 202
16,286 17,285

(i} The amounts stated were before deduction for impairment losses.

The Group had trade receivables amounting to
£16,286,000 (2016: $17,285,000) that were past due at
the end of the reporting period but not impaired. These
receivables are unsecured and the analysis of their
aging at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in
Nota (i) above.

Certain past due frade recetvables bear interest at rates
ranging from 8% to 12% (2016: 8% 1o 12%) per annum
in accordance with the billing terms and tha remaining
are non-interest bearing. The trade receivables are
generally on 30 to 120 days (2016: 20 to 120 days)
credit terms.

Trade and other receivables that are individually assessed to
be impaired al the end of the reporting period relate to deblors
that are in significant financial difficulties and have defaulted on
payment. These receivables are not secured by any collateral
or cradit enhancements.

Allowances for doubtful trade and other receivables are
recognised for the estimated irrecoverable amounts from
the sata of goods and services rendered. These allowances
for doubtiul trade and other receivables are determined by
assessing the profile of debtors and after considering recovery
prospects. Further details regarding the credit risk for trade and
other receivables are disclosed in Mote 32(c) o the financial
stalaments.
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I
INVENTORIES
Group
At net
realisable
At cost value Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Raw materials 809 = 909
Work-in-progress 1,184 - 1,184
Finished goods 813 - 813
2,906 - 2,906
2016
Raw materials S8B = 988
Work-in-progress ar7 = ar7
Finished goods 1.567 42 1,599
3,522 42 3,564

In the pricr year, net realisabla values of inventories
amounting to 542,000 were stated net of alipwance
of $43,000.

During the year, an allowance for inventory
chsolescence amounting to $17,000 (2016: $1,000)
was recognised as “other operating expenses” in profit
or loss [Note 25).

Details of collateral

As at 31 December 2017, inventories amounting to
£643,000 (2016: $748,000) included in the above
balances were mortgaged to banks to secure cradit
facilities for the Group. Infermation relating 1o the
Group's loans and borrowings is disclosed in Note 13
to the financial statements.

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

ﬁnpmm in the course of developmant
Land held for fulure developmeant
Land held for sale

Completed properties held for sale

Represented by:

Properties in the course of development in Singapore
Land held for future development in China

Land held for sale in China

Completed properties held for sale in Singapore
Completed properties held for sale in China

ﬂrnu;p

2017 2016
_§'o00 $'000
113,379 5B, 166
T.236 18,847
11,856 -
132,471 74,813
55,837 108,419
188,308 183,232
113,379 56,186
7,238 18,647
11,856 -
51,792 104,310
4,045 4,109
188,308 183,232

Development properties comprise properties in the course of davelopment, land heid for future development or held for
sale and completed properties held for sale, These properties have operating cycles longer than one year. Development
properties are classified as current assels as they are intended for sale in the Group's normal operating cycle.

For land which Is held for sale in China, the Group has entered into a sale and purchase agreement during the year to
dispose its interests in a wholly-owned subsidiary which owns the land in Jiaozhou, China, The transaction has yet to be
completed as at tha end of the reporting period and is subject 1o a number of conditions precedent. A deposit amounting
to 34,294 000 has been collected from the buyer and is included in other craditors as at 31 Decemnber 2017 [Mota 14].
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)

Properties in the course of development and land held for future development or sale

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group
2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Land cost 128,508 79,728
Development cost incurred to-date 8,862 a79
Interest and others 4,396 1,484
141,766 82,19
Add: Attributable profit 732 -
Less: Progress billings received and receivable (2,791) -
Less: Allowance for diminution in value (7,236) 7.378)
132,471 74,813
Completed properties held for sale
Group
2017 2016
Note £'000 5000
Complaeted properties, at cost 58,739 113,105
Less: Allowance for diminution in value (2,902) 14,686)
. 5S58ar 108419
Movements in allowance for diminution in value
At 1 January {12,064) {8,879)
Exchange difference on consolidation 142 3m
Allowance made during the year 25 (1,611) 13,649)
Write-back during the year 25 3,395 163
At 31 December {10,138) {12,064)

Interest costs capitalised during the year was 51,333,000 (2016:
to 2.1% per annum (2016: 1.8% to 2.0% per annum) [Note 23].
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$1,641,000) at effective interest rates ranging from 1.9%
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DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
Completed properties held for sale (cont'd)
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The following table provides information on properties in the course of development and land held for future development
or held for sale, of which revenue is recognised based on (i) transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership at

completion, and (i) as construction progresses:

Group
2017 2016
$°000 $'000
Transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership at completion:
Land cost 23,958 24,405
Development cost incurred to-date m 786
Interest and others 1,599 834
Less; Allowance for diminuthon in value (7, 236) {7.378)
19,092 18,647
Continuous transfer of significant risks and rewards of ownership
as construction progresses:
Cost incurred plus atiributable profit 116,170 56,166
Progress bilings recelved and recelvable (2,791) -
Less: Allowance for diminution in value - =
113,379 56,166
132,471 74,813

Allowance for diminution in value

The aliowance for diminution in value for development
properties held for sale was estimated taking into
account estimated selling prices and estimated total
congtruction costs. The estimated selling prices are
based on expected selling pricas for the developmant
project after taking into consideration of prevailing
market conditions. The estimated total construction
casts include contracted amounts plus estimated costs
to compiete the development project. The aowance will
be progressively reversed for those residential units sold
above their carrying amaounts.

During the year, a write-back in allowance for diminution
in value for development properties of $1,784,000
(2016: an allowance for diminution in valug of
£3,649,000} is included in “other operating expenses/
cost of sales” In profit or loss [Note 25).
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Details of collateral

As at 31 December 2017, development properties
amounting to $113,379,000 (2016: $126,615,000)
included in the abowve balances wera mortgaged
to banks to secure credit facilities for the Group.
Information relating to the Group's loans and borowings
is disclosed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Land in Fuzhou Jin"an District, Fuzhou, Fujian Province,
China

Included in the development properties was a camying
amount of §7,236,000 (2016: 57,378,000} relating to a
land parcel acquired in 2008 in Fuzhou, China with an
expired certificate for the construction site planning.
The Group has applied to the relevant authorities for
its renewal since 2013, An allowance of $7,236,000
{2016; §7,378,000) was made based on management's
best estimate on net realisable value of the development
sita.
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& DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

List of development properties
As at 31 December 2017, the development properties held by the Group are as follows:
Estimated Year Group's
gross floor completed/ effective
Name of property/ Description/ Land area area estimated  equity
location planned use Held by Tenure {sq. m.) [sg. m.) completion interest
Properties in the course of development
Kandis Condominium of Dillania Land 99 years 7.046 10,850 2018 100%
Residence, 130 units (17 units Pte Ltd from 2016
Jalan Kandis, bocked/scld)
Singapore
Site at Jalan Remaja  Condominium of Episcia Land  Freehold 4,047 8,546 2020 100%
Jalan Remaja 108 units Pte Ltd
Singapors
Land held for future development
Land in Jin-an Residential Fujian Ji'king 70 years 163,740 : : 100%
District, Fuzhou Real Estate  from 1994
Fupan Provinca, Development
China Co., Lid
Land held for sale
Land adjacent to Mainty Residential Qingdan 70 years 119,244 o - 100%
Huangjiahe Shenyarmg iresidential)
Resarvoir, Property 40 years
Shandong Co., Lid. {commercial)
Prowince, China froam
201172013
Completed properties held for sale
Lakeside Ville 172 units of apariments, Habitat 70 years 35,643 41,584 2010 100%
Phasa I, townhouses, and B units  Properties From 1997
Qingpu district of commercial units [Shanghal)
Shanghal (168 wnits soid) Lrd
China
Seletar Park Condominium of Asplenium 99 years 17,456 26,862 2015 100%
Residence, 276 units (276 units Land Pte Lid  fram 2011
Salatar Road bocked/scld)
Singapona
Sannelt Condorminium Clerodendrum 29 years B.664 33328 2018 100%
Residence, townhouses of Land Pte Lid from 2011
Pheng Geck 332 units and three
Avenua shop units (324 units
Singapore bocked/sod)
Cluny Park Condominium of Shalford Freehold 4,544 6,997 2016 100%
Residence, 52 units (47 units Properties
Cluny Park Road bockad/sokd) Pte Lid
Singapore

Pending rersrwal of expired osrtficate ior constnaction sie planning.

During the yade. a Sale and Purchase Agreemant wis enbered nlo lor the sale of Qingdac Shengyang Proparty Co., Lid, Tha iransacton has yet 1o e complated
af tha end of tha reporting pencd and s subect 10 & number of conditiona prececent.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

A
9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Leasehold land,
Building and buildings and Plant and Motor
freehold land improvements equipment vehicles Total
Note £'000 $'000 £'000 £'000 $'000
Group
Cost or valuation:
At 1 January 2017 391,990 4,691 33,760 1,3M 431,812
Exchange differences on
consolidation (6,208) (41) (710} - (6,959)
Additions 106 5 4,087 66 4,263
Dispozal of a subsidiary - - (364) {435) (799)
Disposals = - {158) (238) (395)
Write-offs - (157) (2,196) ) (2,355)
Revaluation 31,188 - - - 31,188
At 31 December 2017 417,075 4,498 34,418 764 456,755
At 1 January 2016 367,206 4,837 31,280 1,376 404,708
Exchange differences on
consolidation 10,336 [(148) 1,281 (&) 11,474
Additions 40 2 4,058 = 4,008
Disposals = = {109) - (109)
Write-oifs - - {2, 448) - (2.448)
Reclassification 319 - (319) - -
Revaluation 14,088 = - - 14,089
At 31 December 2016 __991.9%0 4881 33760 1371 431812
Comprising
At 31 December 2017:
At cost 498 4,498 34,418 TE4 40,178
At valuation ) 416,677 - - - 416,577
417,075 4,498 34,418 764 456,755
At 31 December 201 6:
At cost 498 4,691 33,760 1,371 40,320
At valuation 391,492 - - - 391,492
391,990 4,691 33,760 1,371 431812
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

8 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)

Leasehold land,
Building and buildings and Plant and Motor
freehold land improvements  equipment  vehicles Total
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Group
Accumulated depreciation:
At 1 January 2017 - 960 7,563 970 9,493
Exchange differances cn
consolidation (73) 1 {441) - (513)
Depreciation 25 2,731 a7 4,856 111 7,725
Disposal of a subsidiary - - (288) (348) (632)
Disposals - - (138) (248) (384)
Write-offs - (157) (2,196) 2 (2,355)
Revaluation (2,658) - - - (2,658)
At 31 December 2017 - 831 9,358 487 10,676
At 1 January 2018 - 16 4,627 858 6,401
Exchange differences on
consolidation 55 (25) 672 3 699
Depreciation 25 2836 69 4,752 115 7,072
Disposals = = {40 - (40)
‘Write-offs - o {2,448) - {2,448)
Revaluation i2,891) - - - {2.891)
At 31 December 2016 = 060 7,563 970 9,493
Accumulated impairment:
At 1 January 2017 - 3,041 - - 3,041
Exchange differences on
consolidation = (55) - - {55)
At 31 December 2047 - 2,986 - - 2,986
At 1 January 2018 - 3,158 - - 3,158
Exchange differences on
consolidation - (117) - - {117)
At 31 December 2016 - 3,041 = - 3,041
Carrying amount:
At 31 December 2017 417,076 681 25,060 277 443,093
At 31 December 2016 391,990 GO0 26,197 40 419,278
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
Included in building and freehold land is freehold
jand with a carrying amoumt of $224,952,000
(2016: $211.406,000) which is not subject to
depregiation.

As at 31 December 2017, a lsasehold land and building
with a carrying amount of $531,000 (MYR1,611,000)
[2016: $539,000 (MYR1,867,000) was stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation. For Information
only, its fair value which has been determined by an
independent valuer was $3.881,000 (MYR12,000,000)
as at 31 December 2016. When the Group adopts
IFRS 1 from 1 January 2018, fair value of fixed assets
on the date of transition will be used as desmed cost.
An estimated revaluation gain of $3,342,000 on the
leasehold land and building will be retrospectively
applied on the amounts as at 1 January 2017, For the
freehold building with a carrying amount of $498,000,
an estimated revaluation gain of $311,000 will be
retrospectively applied.

The Group reviews the carrying amounts of its property,
plant and equipment at the end of each reporting year
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered impairment loss. No Impairment
loss was made in 2017 and 2016 as a result of such
assessment.

Details of collateral

As at 31 December 2017, properly, plant and equipment
amounting to $440,825,000 (2016: $416,706,000)
included in the above balances were morigaged to
banks as security for bormowings. Information relating
to the Group’s loans and borrowings is disclosed in
Mote 13 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

Fair value measurement of hotel properties

The Group's hotel properties (including freehold land
and buildings) held under GHG are stated at their
revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date
of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulative
depreciation and subsequent accumulative impaiment
loss. The fair value measurement is based on the
valuation carried out by indepandant valuers, who have
appropriate qualification and recent experience in the
fair value measuwrement of the properties in the relevant
locations.

The Group classified fair value measurement using
a fair value hierarchy that reflects the nature and
complexity of the significant inputs used in making
the measurament. As at 31 Decernber 2017, the fair
value measurement of the Group's hotel properties is
classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There
s no change In the fair value hierarchy as compared
to prior year.

Based on the valuation, revaluation gain amounting to
$33,846,000 (2016: $16,980,000) was recognised in
other comprehensive income [Note 28]

As at 31 December 2017, had freehold land and
bugding been carried at historical cost, their aggregate
carrying amount would have been approximately
£341,523,000 (2016: $350,209,000) for the Group.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
Fair value measurement of hotel properties (cont'd)
There were no transfers between different levels in 2017 and 2016 during the year. Details of valuation techniques and
significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement as at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

Significant unobservable

HName of property Valuation methodology inputs [Level 3) Range

2017

Grand Direct Comparison Value per room $643,900 - $895,500
Hyatt Melbourne 121-131 Capitalisation Approach Capitalisation rate 5.25%

Colins Street Malbourne,
Victorig™

Discounted Cash Flow Method

Discount rate’!
Terminal yield rate'™

7.50% — 8.50%
4.75% - 5.75%

Hyatt Direct Comparison Value per room $158,600 - $180,300
Regency Perth Capitafisation Approach Capitalisation rate 7.00%

87-123 Adelaice Terrace Dizcounted Cash Flow Method Dizcount rate'® 7.50% - B.50%
East Perth Terminal yeald rate’™ 5.75% - B.756%
Westarn Australia®

2016

Grand Stabilized Earnings Method Capitalisation rate™ 6.25%

Hyatt Melbourme Discounted Cash Flow Method Discount rate!" 7.50% — 9.00%
121-131 Colling Strest Termminal yield rate’™ 6.00% - 6.50%
Melbourne, Victoria®

Hyatt Regency Perth Stabilised Eamings Method Capitalisation rate™ 6.50%

87-123 Adelaide Terrace Discounted Cash Flow Method Discount rate™ 7T.76% — 0.25%
East Perth Terminal yield rate’™ 6.26% - 6.75%

Wiestern Australia®™

1] Any sigrificant isolated increase (decraase] in (Fete npuds would result in o significantly iower Fhighar] fair value measursman,
i) Tha propsdty valstion wis perlormad by Jones Leng LaSale Advigary Services Piy Lid on 30 Sep Bar 2017, a0 ind = witbasr
Ml The propsrty valuation was perfoermsd by Eright Frank Valuations cn 30 Novermber 2018, an independen] waluer.
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
List of hotel properties
The carrying amount of the Group's hotel properties as at 31 December 2017 included in property, plant and equipment
are sat out below. The non-hotel properties within the complexes are accounted for under investment properties [Note 10].

Group's
Land effective
area equity 2017 2016 2017 2016
Hame of property Description Tenure [#q. m.) interest AS'000°  ASTODO* S5'000 S5'000
Australia
Grand Hyalt Malbourne Located at the “Pasis end™  Freehold 5776 100% 384,007 334871 376086 350576
Aussiralia of Caling Streat and its
intersection with Russel
Streat. The Property is of
34 lorvnis featuring ong of
Melbourna's largast 5-star
hotels, complete with natal’
commencial space. The
carrying value of the retail’
commencial space has been
dizciozed as investment
propérty [Note 10],

Hyatt Regancy Perth By Swan River and within ~ Freehold 25826 100% 60,820 61,080 62,766 63,955

Australla walking distance from the
ceniral busingss district. The
Propesty is an integrated
S-star hotel, office, ratail
and parking compleax. The
hated i built over 9 livels,
The camying vakse of the
office, retad and parking
complex has been disclosed
a8 imestment propenty
[Mote 10j.

4265017 305961 438,822 414,53

X Figures in AR are o indormaton,
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

L J
10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
Investment
Completed properties
investment under
properties redevelopment Total
Note $'000 §'000 §'000
Group
At 1 January 2017 711,698 396,954 1,108,652
Exchange differences on consalidation (4,033) - (4,033)
Development costs 376,410 67,133 443,543
Met gain from fair value adjustments 24 22,661 21,864 44,525
At 31 December 2017 1,106,736 485,951 1,582,687
At 1 January 2016 705,244 371,665 1,076,909
Exchange differences on consofidation 5,952 - 5,952
Development costs 633 22,960 23,593
MNet {loss)/gain from fair value adjustments 24 {131) 2,329 2,198
At 31 December 2016 711,608 396,954 1,108,652
Company
At 31 December 2017 498 - 498
At 31 Decemiber 2016 498 - 498
Group
2017 2016
£'000 $'000
Represented by:
Completed investment properties in Singapore 865,030 478,030
Completed investment properties in Australia 235,372 227,309
Completed investment properties in China 6,334 6,359
Investment property under development in Singapore 485,951 396,954
1,592,687 1,108,652

Fair value adjustments

The Group's investment properties are stated at fair
valug as at 31 December 2017, based on valuation
carried out by independent professional valuers, who
have the appropriate gualification and experience in
the location and category of the properties being
valued. Based on these valuations, a net fair value gain
amounting to 544,525,000 (2016: net fair value gain
amounting to $2,198,000) was recognised in profit or
loss [Note 24].

350

The Group classified fair value measurement using
a fair value hierarchy that reflects the nature and
complexity of the significant inputs usad in making the
measurement. As at 31 December 2017, the fair valus
measurement of the Group's investment properties
is classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
Thera were no fransfers between different levels in
2017 and 2016.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)

Fair value adjustments (cont'd)
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017

Detaits of valuation techniques and significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement as at 31 December
2017 and 31 December 2016 are as follows:

Significant unobservable

Mame of property Valuation methodology inputs (Level 3) Range

2017

Singapore

Robinson Pointal Comparison Method Price per square metre of £28,400 - $31,300

39 Robinson Road lettable area™

Singapore Incame Method Met income margin®'" 75% - B0%
_Capitalisation rate™ _3.0% to 3.65%

The Oxbey'™ Comparison Method Price per square metre of £26,900 - $35,700

9 Qxley Rise strata floor area™

#01-00, #02-00, #03-00 Incamea Method Met income margin®" 75% = B0%

Singapore Capitalisation rate™ 3.0% to 3.65%

Century Warehouse™
31 strata wnits (out of a
total of 35 units) of the
buslding 100E Pasir
Panjang Road
Singapore

Direct Comparison Method

Price par square metre of
strata floor area™

L&Y Building™

#01-03, #01-04, #05-01
59 Jalan Pemimpin
Singapore

Direct Comparizon Method

Price per squara metre of
strata floor area™

$6,600 — $13,400

$5,500 - §7,600
£6,100 - 12,100
{ground floor)

Far East Finance Building™
#11-01/02
14 Robinson Road

Singapore

Direct Comparison Method

Price per square metre of
strata floor area™

£23,700 — $35,400

898 Dunearn Road™
896 Dunearmn Road

Diract Comparison Method

Price par squara metre of
strata floor area™

Retail: $18.900 - $43,400
Office; $13,500 - $19,000

Singapore
18 Robinson™ Residual Land Value Method Gross development value Office: $34,100 = 536,300
per square metre!" Retail: $64.200 - $77,200
Developer's profit™ 10%
Direct Comparison Method  Land sale per square £9,700 - 518,400
metre per plot ratic™
Construction cost per 57,200
squara metre of gross
floor area™
Total development cost £9,000
{exclude land cost) per
square metre of gross
floor area™*
Remaining construction 1 year
period™
Australia
Fortescue Centra & Capitalisation Method Capitalisation rate™ 8.50%
Carpark (being part of the Dizcounted Cash Flow Dizcount rate™ 8.50% - 9.00%
Hyatt Regancy complex)™ Methad Terminal yiald rate® 8.50% - 9.00%
Direct Comparison Land sale per square metre®™  §3,100 - $5,400
Commercial Centre & Capitalisation Method Capitalisation rate™ Retail: 5.25%
Carpark within the Carpark: 5.75%
Melboumne Grand Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate™ Retail: 6.75% - 7.25%

Hyatt complax* Method Carpart;: 7.00% - 7.50%
Terminal yiald rate™ Retall: 5.25% - 5.75%
Carpark: 6.00% - 6.50%
China

No. 2950 ChunShen Road
Shanghai, China®

Direct Comparizon Method

Income Method

Price per square metre of
gross fioor area™
Capitalisation rate™

Met income margin®

$4,000 - $5.600

8%
0%
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10

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)

Fair value adjustments (cont'd)

MName of property

Valuation methodology

Significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Range

2016

Singapore
Robinson Point
39 Robinson Road

Comparison Method

Price per square metre of
letlable area’™

£19,400 - $38,000

Singapore Incoma Method Met income margin®! T5% - B5%
Capitalization rate™ 2.8% to 4.0%

Tha Oxiay™ Comparison Mathod Prica per square metra of $18,300 - $30,800

9 Ouxley Rise strata floor area™

#01-00, #02-00, #03-00 Income Method Met income margin® 80% - 90%

Singapore = ___Capitalisation rate® 2.0 % to 3.75%

Century Warehouse™ Direct Comparison Method  Price per square metre of £7,300 - 12,800

31 strata units (out of a strata floor area™

total of 35 units) of the

building 100E Pasir

Panjang Foad

Singapore

LAY Building®™ Direct Comparison Method  Price per square metre of $5,900 - £6,700

#01-03, #01-04, #05-01 strata floor area™ $5,900 - 38,300

59 Jalan Pemimpin {ground fioaor)

Singapore

Far East Finance Building®
#11-01/02
14 Robinson Road

Direct Comparison Mathod

Price par square metre of
strata floor area™

£23,400 - $32,300

Singapora
18 Robinson® Residual Land Value Method Gross development value Office: $29,300 - $38,000

per square metre™ Retail: $51,700-852 800

Developer's profit® 10%

Direct Comparison Method  Land sale per square $9,700 - $12,000

metre par plot ratio™

Construction cost per square  $7,200

metre of gross floor area™

Total development cost £9,700

{exclude land cost) per square

metre of gross floor area™

Remaining construction 2 years

period™®
Australia
Fortescue Centre & Capitalisation Mathod Capitalisation rate® 9.25% - 9.76%
Carpark (being part of the Discounted Cash Flow Digcount rate™® 8.50% - 9.50%
Hyatt Regency complex)™ Method Terminal yield rate® 9.25% - 9.75%

Direct Comparison Land sale per square metre™  £2,500 — $4,200

Commercial Centra & Capitalisation Mathod Capitalization rate™ Retail: 5.80%
Carpark within the Discounted Cash Flow Discount rate™ 7.25% - 7.75%
Melbourne Grand Method Terminal yield rate™ 6.00% - 6.50%
Hyatt complex'™
China
No. 2850 ChunShen Road®  Direct Comparizon Method  Price per square metre of 54,000 - $5,500
Shanghai, China aross fioor area’™
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
Fair value adjustments (cont'd)

Haoles:

1 Any

@

fa

L]

&l

Lal]

e

et income margin - ned propary ircome‘annual gross remal income,

Tatal develapment coat include cosl, prod i benis,

inbiraat codl, lnnd Boldng codl and alfssr developmant raliled com
a3 i S | i i npeia would result

in @ significanily higher lower) inir vahee measunement.

Any sgniicant Bolaled ndreass [decrease) in thess inpuls would resull

in @ significanily lower [higher o valee measusnrement.

The proparty valation was parformed by Colliers Inlernaticnal

Conaultancy & Valuation [Singapons) Pre Lid, an indepandant vakier,

far Beih yoas.

The property valuation was pariormed by Jones Lang LaSaile Property

Consullanis Pie Lid, an independent valuer, for both years.

Tne properly vahsalion was perfomed by CBRE Ple. Lid, an

inchpardant valuor, far BDiR yaar

Tree 200 7 vaduabion was pedomesd by Smdls Valuaation And Protessional

Services (8) Pte Lid. There was no comparaiive valuation for 2018 as

the propesty was acquired on 10 June 2007,

Tha 2017 vahation was pafarmed by Jones Lang LoSalls Advisory

Sarvices Ply Lid 5s &1 30 Septembar 2017; whili? the 2016 vshuaton

wad parlormed by Knight Frank Valuations as al 30 November 2018,

The 2017 valuabon was perlormed by Shenjia Real Estale Apprasal

Co. Lid s of 31 December 2017T; whist the 2010 valualion was

nasaassd by 1he direciom.

List of completed investment properties
The camying amounts of complated investment properties held by the Group as at 31 December 2017 are as follows:
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

Operating lease disclosure

During the year, rental income from the Group's investment
properties which were all leased under operaling leases
amounted to $38,318,000 (2016; $34,844,000) [Mote 21].
Direct operating expenses (Including repairs and maintenance)
related 1o these investment properties amounted to 38,601,000
(2016: %7,052,000). Information on operating lease
commitments is disclosed in Mote 30 to the financial statermants,

Details of collateral

Az at 31 December 2017, investment properties amounting to
$1,586,353,000 (2016: $1,102,203,000) included in the above
balances were morigaged to banks as security for borrowings.
Information relating to the Group's loans and borrowings is
disclosed in Note 13 1o the financial statemants.

Group's
Strata  effective
floor area aquity 2017 2016

Name of property Description Tenure (sg. m.) interest £'000 $'000
Singapore
Robinsan Point A 21-storey commercial  Freshold 15,724" 100% 362,000 352,000
39 Robinson Road building with 3-levels of
Singapore carpark
The Ouley 3 floors of commercial Freehold 2,770 100% 64,000 63,300
9 Oxley Rise space within a 10-storey
#01-00, #02-00, building including
#03-00 Singapore rasidantial units
Century Warehouse 31 out of a total of Freehold 4,680 100% 40,400 40,400
100E Pasir Panjang 35 strata units of a
Read Singapore B-storey industrial

building
L&Y Building 3 out of a total of 008 years 2,285 100% 13,030 13,030
#01-03, #01-04, 24 strala units of a From 1885
#05-01 S-storey industrial
59 Jalan Pemimpin building
Singapore
Far East Finance 1 strata unit (floor) within 999 years 402 100% 9,600 9,300
Building a 13- storey commercial  from 1884
#11-01/02 building and basement
14 Robinson Road
Singapore
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A

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
List of completed investment properties (cont'd)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Group's
Strata  effective
floor area equity 2017 2016
Name of property Description Tenure (sq. m.) interest $'000 £'000
896 Dunearn Road A 5-storey commercial Estate in 23,500 100% 376,000 -
896 Dunearn Road building with covered Fee simple
Singapore and surface carpark {Lot 1182k),
Estata in Fee
Simple and
9949 years
from 7 May
1879
(Lot 1185L),
Estate in
Parpetuity
(Lot B9807P}
and 999
years from
7 May 1879
{Lot 99B01X)
865,030 478,030
Group's
Strata  effective
floor area equity 207 2016 2017 2016
Mame of property  Description Tenure [sq. m.) interest  AS'000'  AS°000 S8'000 S5'000
Australia
Commercial 4 Colling St. retail Frashold 3.024 100% 138,500 130,000 142,697 136087
Centre & Campark shops consisting
within the of 2 fioors each,
Melbourne Grand a bar & function
Hyatt comples roorm. A further
7 retail areas in
and around
Russell St. with
A-levals of
basement car park
Fortescue Centre A Jdevel Frashold 23,415 100% 89,950 87,125 92,675 91,212
& Carpark commercial
{being part of bulding and
the Perth Hyalt plaza level shops
Regency and suiles with
complex) 2-evals of
basement car park
228,450 217,125 235372 227,309
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT'D)
List of completed investment properties (cont'd)
Group's
Strata  effective
floor area equity 2017 2016 2017 2016

Mame of property  Description Tenure (sg.m.)  imterest AME'000' RMB000' S$'000  S5'000
China

No. 2850 A 3-storey 58 years 2,170 100% 30,074 30,500 6,334 B,359
ChunShen Road commencial building  from

Shanghai, 2008

China

A Gross flooe nres
1 Figrres in AL and AMB are for information only.

List of investment property under redevelopment
The carrying amount of investment property under redevelopment as at 31 December 2017 Is as follows:

Planned
Gross Group's
Floor effective
Area equity 2017 2016
Name of property __ Description Tenure (sq.m.) interest  $'000  $'000
Singapore
18 Robinson Proposad 28 storey 999-years from 24,086 100% 485,951 396,854
commaearcial building 1884 & 1885
comprising office {Lots 167X,
tower, retall podium, B16W, 691X,
sky terrace and an 992804, SO28TW
underground mechanised  and 99289F)
carpark
99-years from
2013 (Lots 485M,
488P)

The Group is in the course of redeveloping the site Interest costs capitalised during the year was 54,448,000
where the previous Robinson Towers, its annex and (2016: $4,220,000) at effective interest rate of 2.5% per annum
the immediately adjacent international Factors Building (2016: 2.4% per annum) [Note 23].

ware as a single commerclal developmant as indicated

abova.
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A

1" INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company

2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Cuoted shares, at cost 115,976 115,976
Unguoted shares, at cost 553,419 548,418
Loan to a subsidiary 79,719 79,562
Deemed investment arising from financial guarantees 69,647 63,809
818,781 BO7, 765
Less: Allowance for impairment (123,114) {123,010
695,647 684,755

Fair value of investment in a subsidiary for
which there are published price guotations 23,924 13,792

Details of the Company's significant subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Financial guarantees

The Company provided guarantees to banks for credit facilities cbtained by certain of its subsidiaries and recorded a
deamed financlal guarantee fee Income In accordance with FRS 39 Flnancial Instruments: Recogmition and Measuramen!.
The deemed incoma is amortised over the period of the guarantees. The wnamortised financial guarantee fee of $14,738,000
(2016: $16,236,000) is disclosed under the Company's non-frade payables in [Note 14] to the financial statements. Tha
guarantee fee was not charged by the Company to the subsidiaries. The full amount of the guarantee fee is deemed to
be additional investment in subsidiaries.

Movements in allowance for impairment

Company

2017 2016
£'000 £'000

Allowance for impairment
At 1 January (123,010) (137.945)
Allowance lor impairment (111) (6,404)
Reversal of impairment 7 7,609
(104) 1,205
Reversal upon liguidation of subsidiares L 13,730
At 31 December (123,114) {123,010)

During the year, impairment loss amounting to Loan to a subsidiary

$111,000 (2016: $6,404,000) was made in respect Loan to a subsidiary refers to unsecured advances which have
of the Company's investment in certain subsidiaries no fixed terms of repayment and are not expected to be repaid
to reduce the carrying value of investment to the In the next 12 months. These advances bear interest rate at
recoverable amounts after taking into account the B.5% per annum (2016 65.5% per annwm).

current financial position of the subsidiaries, In addition,

thera was a reversal of impairment amounting to 7,000

MmN 7 R0 N in relatinn to pertain guhsidiarisg

LA AR R ) TR A0 LOTRET SMOGEEIGT S

due to increase in their recoverable amounts.,
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Information about the composition of wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

Number of wholly-owned

Country of incorporation subsidiaries

Principal activity and operation 2017 2016
Development of properties for sale, property Singapore, China and Australia b a7

investment and provision of property

management sarvices,
Investment in holels in Australia Australia 4 4
Investments in GuiTech, a printed circuit boards Singapore, China and Malaysia 3 3

manufacturer with operaticns in Singapore and

C+hina, and Pan-West, a retailer of golf-related

products.

38 24

Non-wholly owned subsidiaries

Information about the composition of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 December 2017 is as follows:

MNumber of wholly-owned

Country of incorporation subsidiaries
Principal activity and operation 2017 2016
Trading and marketing of salected industrial
commaodities, distribution of tyres and
re-treading of tyres Singapore and Malaysia 9 9
Property developmant Singapaore 1 1
Manufacture and sale of polypropylene woven bags  Malaysia 1 1
11 11

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-controliing interests to the Group s disclosed below:

Country of Effective equity
incorporation  interest & voting
and principal power held by  Net profit allocated Accumulated
place of nen-controlling  to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary business interests interests interests
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
SP Corperation Limited and Various 19.8% 19.8% 115 337 10,090  10.476
ite subsidiarias
Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests 3 (118) 538 558
112 221 10,628 11,034
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INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D)
Non-wholly owned subsidiaries (cont'd)
The summarised financial information of SP Corporation Limited and its subsidiaries on a 100% basis is set out below:

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Current assets 66,841 77,596

MNon-current assets 172 375

Current llabilities (16,169) (24,933

MNon-currant liabilities {38) (54)

Equity attributable to cwnars 50,806 52,884

Revenue for the year 127,726 125,640

Net profit for the year 447 1,802

12 INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES
Group

2017 2016

£'000 £'000

Unquoted equity shares, at cost 72,240 72,240

Exchange differences on consolidation 1,680 8,040
Share of post-acquisition results and reserves, net of dividends and

distributions recaivad 19,265 3209
93,185 83,579

Equity accounted investees

The Group equity accounted for Gul Technologies Singapore Pte Ltd ("GuiTech” and Pan-West (Privale) Limited
("Pan-West"). In February 2016, GulTech increased its equity stake in Guitech (Suzhou) Electronics Co., Ltd from 61.4% to
100%. Goodwill of $4,365,000 paid over acquiring additional shares was included in the share of post-acquisition results
and reserves. Details of the Group's significant assoclates as at 31 December 2017 are disclosed in Note 34 to the financial
statements. The Group has ceased recoanising Pan-West's losses after the Group's share of Pan-Weast's accumulated
Iosses exceaded the Group's cost of investment,

The Group's share of net assets and total comprehensive income of GuiTech Is set out below:

Group
2017 2016
Note £'000 £'000
Share of net assets
At 1 January 83,579 7.,5M
Exchange differences on consolidation (6,360) 2,829
Goodwill paid over acquiring additional shares - {4,365)
Share of total comprehensive incame (refer to below) 15,966 13,604
At 31 December 93,185 83,579
Share of total comprehensive income
Share of results before fair valua adjustments 15,677 13,466
Share of fair value gain on financial instruments 24 289 138
Share of total comprehensgive income for the year 15,966 13,6804

Details of asset revaluation reserve and cash flow hedging account are disclosed in Note 19 to the financial statements.
Share of capital commitments of GulTech, an equity accounted investee is disclosed in Note 30 to the financial statements.
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12 INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY ACCOUNTED INVESTEES (CONT'D)
GulTech
The summarised financial information of GuiTech on a 100% basis is set out below:
2017 2016 2017 2016
Uss000! uUss 000! 55'000 5%'000
Current assets 181,798 154,955 244,609 224,405
Non-current assets 145,262 145,887 195,450 217,066
Current labilithes (108,367) (83, 769) {145,807) {135, 796)
Mon-currant liabilities (19,745) (37.421) (26,567) (54,194)
Mon-contralling interests (43,510) (43,802) (58,543) (83,579)
Equity attributable to owners 155,438 128,750 209,142 187,802
Revenue for the year 283,757 244,340 406,266 337,214
Met profit for the year 25,688 22,162 35,527 30,586
1 Figures in USS are for infcemation.
Pan-West in relation to Pan-West. The Group has ceased
The Group had recognised its share of losses of recognising Pan-West's losses after the Group's share
£5,408,000 (2016: $5,408,000) [Note 14] being of Pan-West's accumulated losses exceeded the
the corporate guarantees given to ceralin banks in Group's cost of investment. Accordingly, the Group's
exchange for bank facilities granted 1o Pan-West and nominal additional share of accumulated losses of
its subsidiary, Other than the afore-mentioned corporate Pan-West amounting to $6,550,000 (2016: §5,939,000)
guarantees, the Group had no other commitments as at the end of the year was not recognised.
13 LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Short-term borrowings
Bank loans 278,843 3,406 = -
Long-term borrowings
Bank loans 850,813 837,825 - -
Motes issued under
MTM Programme 228,364 79,562 228,364 79,562
1,179,177 1,017,387 228,364 79,562
Total borrowings 1,458,120 1,020,793 228,364 79,562
Reprasented by:
Imteresi-bearing liabilities 1,462,087 1,024,085 230,000 80,000
Capitalised Interest costs (3,967) (3293 (1,636) (438
1,458,120 1,020,793 228,364 79,562
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13 LOANS AND BORROWINGS {CONT'D)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Security profile
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Secured borrowings
Currant 278,943 3,406 - -
Mon-current 850,813 937,825 - =
1229786 2 92 00000000 - 00000000 -
Unsecured borrowings
Non-curment 228,364 79,562 _ 228,364 79,562
1,458,120 1,020,793 228,364 79,5962

Multicurrency Medium Term Note Programme

The Company has in place a S3900 million Mutticurmency
Medium Term Note Programme (*MTN Programme”)
under which it can issue noles in series or tranches
and may be denominated in Singapore Dollars or other
currency deemed appropriate at the time.

Series | of S380 milion were issued on 14 October
2014, They are of five years duration, unsecured,
bear a fixed interest rate of 4.50% per annum payable
semi-annually in arrear and will mature on 14 October
2019. Saries Il of S5150 million were issued on 5 Juna
2017, They are of three years duration, unsecured,

bear a fixed interest rate of 6.00% per annum payable
sami-annually in arear and will mature on 5 Juna 2020,
At the end of tha reporting period, the fair value of the
Mote approximates its carrying amount,

Details of collateral

Loans and bormowings from banks were secured over
the Group's cash and bank balances [Mote 5], trade
and other receivables [Note 6], inventories [Mote 7],
development properties [Note B8], property, plant and
equipment [Note 9], investment properties [Note 10]
and covered by corporate guarantees [Note 31],

Interest rate profile
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 §'000 $'000
Loans and borrowings
Fixed rate 228,364 79,562 228,364 79,562
Variable rate 1,229,766 941,231 s ———
1,458,120 1,020,793 228,364 79,562

Tha Group's exposure to fair value interest rate rigk as
at 31 December 2017 is disclosed in Mote 32(b) to the
financial stalements.

Fair value

The fair value of the current portion of tha Group's loans
and borrowings approximate their carrying amounis at
the end of the reporting pericd because they are short
termmn in nature. The fair valua of the non-currant partion
of the Group's loans and borrowings approximate thei
carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period as
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their interest rates approximate current market interest
rates on or near the end of the reporting pericd, Furthar
details regarding foreign currency denomination and
maturity dates, contractual and effective interest rates
are disclosed in Motes 32(a) and 32(d} respectively to
the financial statements.

Loan maturity profile

The non-current borrowings are generally repayable
2 January 2018 to 11 September 2026). Information
relating to the maturity profile of the Group's loans and
borrowings is disclosed in MNote 32(d) to the financial
stalements.
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13 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONT'D)
Reconciliation of Habilities arising from financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group's liabidlities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arsing from financing activities are thoss for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.
Foreign
1 January Financing exchange Other 31 December
2017 cash flow® movement changes® 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Group
Bank loans 1,020,793 443,879 (5,887) (665) 1,458,120
1,020,793 443,879 (5,887) (665) 1,458,120
#  The cash flows make up 1Fe el gmoun] of procesds from Borrowings and repayments of Borowings in tha stalement of cash flows
] O charges includs inbireal sccruale and payments
14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Trade
Trade payahes 56,618 46,846 278 a5
Amounts due to related parties 16 3,089 4,143 - -
589,707 50,989 279 a5
Non-trade
Other creditors 23,336 19,315 378 212
Other provisions 5,659 5,653 - -
Advanced hillings 8,261 6,602 - -
Accrued operating expensas 22491 27,688 3,313 2,774
Accrued Interest expenses 2,653 2,028 1,445 7ra
Financial guarantees to subsidiaries i1 - - 14,738 16,236
Amounts due to related parties 16 ara 430 - -
122,380 112,795 20,153 20,096
Less: Non-current portion (463) {462) - -
Currant partion 121,917 112,333 20,153 20,096

The Group is granted wvarious credit terms on its
purchases from its large number of suppliers who are
geographically dispersed. Trade payables are ganerally
on 7 to 90 days (2016: 7 to 120 days) credit term. The
Group manages liquidity risk of trade payables primarily
by maintaining sufficient cash and credit facilities [Mote
a2(d).

Included in other creditors is a financial guarantee of
£5,408,000 (2016: $5,408,000) granted to its assoclate,
Pan-West, equivalent to the Group®s share of corporate
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guarantees given to certain banks to secure credit
facilities of Pan-West and its subsidiary. In addition,
a deposit of $4,294 000 has bean included in other
creditors [Note 14].

The carrying amount of trade and other payables
approximate their falr values at the end of the reporting
periods. Further details regarding the contractual and
effective interest rates, maturity dates and foreign
cumency dancmination are disclosed in Note 32 to the
financial statements.
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15 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2017 2016
$'000 £'000
Amounts due from subsidiaries - non-trade 379,901 279,146
Less: Allowance for impairment {25,050} {23,679)
354,851 255,467
Amounts due to subsidiaries - non-trade (309,729} {265,956)
Movements in allowance for impairment
Company
2017 2016
: i . $'000 $'000
Movements in allowance for impairment
At 1 January (23,679) {22,170)
Allowance made {1,371) {1,509)
At 31 December (25,050) (23.679)

Advances from and to subsidianes are unsecured and
are repayable on demand. Inlerest is charged at 2.5%
{2016: 2.4%) per annum on interest-bearing advances.

During the year, alowance for impairment of $1,371,000
(2016: $1,509,000) was made for amounts due from

362

subsidiares. The above assessment i after taking into
account the current financial position of the subsidianes.
The allowance for impairment of $1.371,000 (20186:
51.509,000) was made for a subsidiary due to decrease
in nat assal value of the underlying interast as al the
reparting date.
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16 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) RELATED PARTIES
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Amounts due from:
Other related parties
Other related parties, trade 31,040 35,193 - -
Other related parties, non-trade:
- Advance for coal order trade
placement - 3,476 - =
- Othars 1,251 247 13 -
Refundable trade deposits with
other related parties 8,073 8,689 - -
40,364 47,605 13 =
Total 40,364 47,605 13 -
Presanied 8s:
Amounts due from related parties,
trade & 31,040 35,193 - -
Amounts due from related partias,
non-trade B 9,324 12,412 13 -
40,364 42,605 13 -
Amounts due to:
Other related parties
Other related parties, trade {3,089) {4,143} s, =
Other refated parties, non-trade (373) (430) - -
(2,462) {4,573) - =
Total (3,462) (4,573) - -
Presanted gs:
Amounts due to related parties,
trade 14 (3,089) {4,143) - -
Amounts due to related parties,
non-trade 14 (373) {430) - -
{3,462) {4.573) - -

The Company's major shareholder is Nuri Holdings (S)
Pte Ltd (*Muri"), incorporated in Singapore. Related
parties are the companies in which the shareholders
of Nuri and their family membars have a confrolling
interest in, subsidiaries, associatas, joint ventures,
related companies, Muri and Directors of the Company
and their associates.

Included in amounts due to othar related parties,
trade and non-trade, are mainly balances with refated
companies. Further details regarding transactions with
related parties are disclosed in Note 29 to the financial

Amounts due from/(to) other related parties

Included in the non-trade amownts due from related
parties is a refundable trade deposit of LIS$E,000,000 or
equivalent to 8,073,000 (2016: §8,689,000) placed by
5P Corporation Limited ("SP Corp™), a listed subsidiary

of the Group, to secure coal supply allocation with a
coal mine which is a related party as defined above,

The deposit is repayable within one year and ks subject
to annual renewal by mutual agreement between the
two parties, it is secured by a corporate guarantee
issued by the Immediate holding company of the related
party and bears an effective Interest of 5.7% (2016:
5.4%) per annum. The deposit has bean assessed
as having been placed with a counterparty that is
creditworthy and accordingly no allowance for potential
non-recovery of this deposit is required.

In 2017, included in non-trade amounts due from other
redated parties is an amount of 3892, 000 for the zale of
the discontinued Tyre Distribution Unit.

The trade and non-trade amounts due from/{to} other
related parties were unsacured, interest-free, and
repayable on demand unless otharwise stated.
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17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Deferred tax at the end of the reporting period consists of the following:

Group
2017 2016
$'000 £'000
Deferred tax assets and liabilities arising from
Accelerated tax depreciation compared to accounting depreciation 221 254
Revaluation of properties 1,366 1,393
Foreign income not remitted and which will be subject to tax
if remitted in the future 47,099 33,475
Unutilised tax losses {1,630) -
Others [1,525) {1,678)
45,531 33,444
Represented by:
Deferred tax assets {2,253) (2,2886)
Deferred tax llabllities 47,784 45,730
45,531 33,444

Deferred tax assets and Rabilities are netted off when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and when the deferred
income taxes relate to the same tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised by the Group and the movements thereon during the current and prior
reporting pericds are as following:

Foreign
Accelerated Deferred Revaluation income Unutilised

tax development of not tax
depreciation costs  properties  remitted losses Others Total
Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2017 254 - 1,393 33,475 - (1,678) 33,444
Exchange differences
on consolidation 2 - (27) {587) [13) b | (594)
Transfer 1o ncoma
tax payable upon
compietion of
development properties - - - - - - -
{Credited)/Charged to
profit or loss 26 35) - - 3,782 {1,617) 122 2,252
Charged t0 other
comprehensive income 28 - - - 10,428 = - 10,429
At 31 December 2017 221 - 1,366 47,099 (1,630) (1,525) 45,531
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17 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (CONT'D)

Accelerated Deferred Revaluation
tax development of not tax

depreciation costs  properties  remitted losses Others Total
Mote $'000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $'000 £'000
Group
At 1 January 2016 278 13,542 1.450 23,838 1.826 {1,659 39,275
Exchange differences
on consolidation 1) 57} T8O 14 59 B77
Transfer to income
fax payable upon
compietion of
development properties - (12.802) - - - - {12,802
{Credited)/Charged to
profil or loss 25 23 - a.730 {1,840 40 1,027
Charged to other
comprehensive income 28 = = 5,067 = = 5,067
At 31 December 2016 254 1,393 33,475 - {1.678) 33444

Deferred tax liabilities relating to equity interest in GHG
Deferred tax liabilities included an amount of
£45,339,000 (2016; $34,034,000) on account of a
provision made by the Group to recognise the taxable
gains on the excess of the fair value of net assets of
GHG over the tax cost base of the securities in GHG.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At the end of the reporting year, the aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with undistributed
eamings of subsidiaries for which daferred tax kabikties
have not been recognised was $280,000 (2016:
£263,000). Mo kability has been recognised in respect
of thesa differences because the Group is in a position
to control the timing of the reversal of temporary
differences, and it Is probable that such differences will
not revarse in the foreseeabls future.
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At the end of the reparting year, the Group had, subject
to the agreement by the tax authorities, unutifised tax
losses of $32,575,000 (2016: $29,692,000) which
were available for camy forward and set-off against
future taxable income. No deferred tax asset (2016
ENI) had been recognised in respect of the tax losses
of $32,575,000 (2016 $29.640,000) due to the
unpredictability of the ralevant future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting year, the Group had,
subject to the agreement by the tax authorities, capital
allowances of £3,540,000 (2016: $2,263,000) which
werg available for carry forward and set-off against
future taxable income. Fulure tax benefits arising
from these unutiised capital allowances had not been
recognised in the financial statements as thers was no
reasonable certainty of their recovery in the future years.
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

18 SHARE CAPITAL

Group and Company

2017 2016 2017 2016
Number of ordinary

. s o o shares ('000) ‘000 $'000
Issued and paid up:
At 1 January 1,182,842 1,178,825 171,306 170,230
Issued under Scrip Dividend Scheme 4,201 4,432 1,231 1,196
Shares bought back and cancelled (50) 415) (23) (1209
At 31 December 1,186,983 1,182,842 172,514 171,306

The Company has a single class of ordinary shares,
All issued shares carry one vote per share and are
entitled 1o receive dividend as and when declared by
the Company. The ordinary shares are fully paid and
have no par value.

Issue of shares

During the year, the Company allotted and issued
4,200,725 (2016; 4,431,667) ordinary shares at an
issue price of 29.3 cents {2016: 27.0 cents) per share
to eligible shareholders who have validly elected to

participate in the Tuan Sing Scrip Dividend Scheme in
respect of the first and final ordinary dividend of 0.6
cent per share for tha financial year endad 31 December
2016.

Purchase and cancellation of shares

During the year, the Company acquired 50,000 (2016
415,000) of its ordinary shares through purchase on
the Singapore Exchange under the Share Purchase
Mandate approved by its shareholders. The shares were
purchased were cancellad subsequently.

19 RESERVES
Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Azset revaluation reserve 130,112 106,420 - -
Foreign currency translation account {31,102} {18,151) = -
Other capital reserves:
- Non-distributable capital reserves 151,434 ‘ 128,200 ‘ 101,264 101,264 ‘
- Cash flow hedging account (772) {1,413) - i
150,662 126,787 101,264 101,264
Revenue resenve 563,463 531,060 319,787 310,779
813,135 748,116 421,051 412,043
Asset revaluation reserve Other capital reserves

Asset revaluation reserve comprises net cumulative
surpluses arising from the revaluation of property,
plant and aquipmeant which are held for the purposa of
production or supply of goods and services.

Foreign currency translation account

rofesgi Cuimency ransialion account compnses ioreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of
the financial statements of foreign operations whose
functional currencies are different from the presentation
currency of the Comparny, i.e. SGD; as well as from the
translation of monetary items which form pant of the
Group's net investment in foreign operations at the end
of the raparting period.

Mon-distributable capital reserves comprise mainly
capital reduction reserve of the Company, share of
reserve of an associate, GulTech and distribution
reserve of GHG which is used to record the balance
of amounts available for distribution as defined by the
Trust Deed.

Cash flow hedging account represents the cumulative
net change in fair value of the effective portion of the
cash flow hedges.

Revenue reserve

Revenue reserve is used to record the balance of
amounts available for distributions as defined by
regulatory requiremants. This is distributable to
shareholders as dividend,
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20 DIVIDEND
Group and Company
2017 2016
£'000 $'000
Tax-exempt one-tier first and final dividend paid
in respect of the previous year
Cash 5,866 5877
Share 1,231 1,196
7,007 7,073
The Directors proposed a tax exempt one-tier first and Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be paid in
final dividend of 0.6 cent per share (2016: 0.6 cent per respact of the financial year ended 31 December 2017.
share) amounting to 7,122,000 (2016: $7.097,000), The Tuan Sing Scrip Dividand Scheme will be applicable
subject to the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming to this proposed dividend.
21 REVENUE
Group
2017 2016
Mote $'000 $'000
Sale of products 134,680 132,003
Sale of development properties 58,576 110,066
Rental income of invesiment properties 10 38,318 34,844
Hotel operations and related income 121,278 121,748
Sarvices rendered 4,005 4,816
Others 1,065 541
357,922 404,018
Revenua reprasants the invoiced value of goods and services supplied. included in the Group's revenue from sale of
development properties is an amount of $2,418,000 (2016; $81,552,000) whereby the revenue is recognised based on
the percentage of completion method.
zn INTEREST INCOME

Interest income on bank deposits
Imterest income from deblors
Interast income from related parties

367

Group.
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
2,957 2,634
115 292
1,078 1,539
4,150 4,465
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23 FINANCE COSTS

Group
2017 2016
Note $'000 $'000
Interest expense on loans and bormowings 37,351 30,283
Amortisation of capitalised finance costs 1,603 1,303
38,854 31,586
Less: Amounis capitalised
- Development properties 8 (1,333) (1.641)
- Investmant properties 10 [l_,M:EH (4,229) |
|5,781) {5.870)
33173 25,716

Borrowing costs capitalised as cost of properties under development relate to borrowings taken up to finance each project.

24 FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

Group
2017 2016
Note £'000 £'000
Fair value gain from:
Subsidiaries 44,525 2,198
Share of an equity accountad investee 12 289 138
44,814 2,336
Reprasanted by:
Fair value gain in respect of:
- investment properties 44,525 2,198
- financial instruments 12 289 138
44 814 2,338
The fair value adjustment is analysed as follows:
Group
Gross Deferred tax Net
Hote $'000 $'000 $'000
2017
Fair value gain on investment properties
Subsidiaries 10 44 525 [3,453) 41,072
Fair value gain on financial instruments
Share of an equity accounted investes 12 289 - 289
44,814 (3,453) 41,361
2016
Fair value loss on investment properties
Subsidiarias 10 2,198 87) 211
Fair value loss on financial instruments
Share of an equity accounted investes 12 138 5 138
2,336 (87) 2,249
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25 PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Other than disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, profit before tax for the year has been arrived at after
charging/(crediting) the fallowing:

Group
2017 2018
$'000 £'000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipmant
[included in cost of sales, distribution costs, administrative expenses) 7,725 7772
Met loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
[included in other operating expenses] -] 5
(Write-back of allowance)/allowance for diminution in value for
development properties
[included in other operating (income)/expensesicost of sales] {1,784) 3,648
Allowance for doubtful recevables, net
[included in other operating expensas/(income)| 425 52
Allowance for inventory obsolescence, net
[included in other operating expenses/income)] 17 1
Foreign exchange loss/(gain), net
[included in other operating expensas/income)| 188 [352)
Write-back of recognisad corporate guarantee no longer required
[included in other operating income] - [445)
Provision for restructuring costs
[included in other operating expenses) 123 73
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense 132,203 128,470
Met loss on liquidation of subsidiaries
[included in other operating expensas] - 1,794
Auditors' remuneration
Audit fees
= Auditors of the Company an 326
- Dther auditors 177 173
MNon-audit fees
- Auditors of the Company 198 52
= Other auditors 10 32
Directors’ remuneration
Of the Company
- Salaries and wages 1,737 1,554
Of the subsidiaries
- Salaries and wages 1,907 1,951
= Defined contribution plans 53 56
3,697 3,561
Employees benefit expenses
(excluding Directors’ remuneration)
- Salaries and wages 12,759 12,274
- Defined contribution plans 991 1,007
= (thers 116 BE
13,866 13,367

The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the non-audit services provided by the auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP,
Singapore and the overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited and was of the opinion that these services
would not affect the independence of the auditors.
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26 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

Group

2017 2016
Note $'000 $'000

Current income tax
- Singapore 328 1,970
- Foreign 1,992 3,146
- Under (Ower) provision in prior years 648 L]
2,968 5,108
Withhaolding tax expense a 139
Deferred tax i7 2,252 1,027
5,261 6,272

Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% (2016: 17%) of the estimated assessable income for the year, Taxation for
other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Tha reconciliation between the tax expense reported and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the applicable tax
rate is as follows:

Group

2017 2016

$'000 $'000
Profit before incoma tax 68,107 40,078
Income tax calculated at 17% (2016 17%) 11,578 6,814
Adfustments:
Share of results of an equity-accounted investee [2,714) {2,313)
Expenszes not deductible for tax purposes 5,072 3,231
Tax losses not recognised as deferred tax assets 335 178
Tax lossas not avadlabile for set-off against future income 46 T
Different ax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions 2,109 1,872
Income that Is not subject to tax (11,699) {3,705)
Utitisation of tax losses and capital allowance pravicusly not recognised (58) {102)
Under (Cver) provision in prior years 648 Rl]
Withholding tax expense 41 139
Others (97} 161

5,261 6,272
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27 EARNINGS PER SHARE
Analysis of the Group's profit from operations and fair value adjustments are as follows:
Group
Before Fair After
fair value value fair value
adjustments adjustments adjustments
Note §'000 $'000 §'000
2017
Profit before tax 23,293 44,814 68,107
Income tax expenses 24, 26 {1,808) (3,453) {5,261)
Profit for the year 21,485 41,361 62,846
Less:
Mon-contralling interests (112} - {112)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 21,373 41,361 62,734
2018
Profit before tax 37,742 2,336 40,078
Income tax expenses 24,26 (6.185) 87) 16.272)
Profit for the year 31,557 2,249 33,806
Lass:
Man-contralling interasts 221) - (221)
Profit attributable to owners of the Company 31,336 2,249 33,585

Tha calculation of the basic and diluted eamings per share attributable to the ordinary owners of the Company is based

on the following data:

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Profit attributable to owners of the Company
Before fair value adjustments 21,373 31,336
Fair valua adjustmants 41,361 2,249
After fair value adjustments 62,734 33,585
Basic and diluted earnings per share [cents)
Including fair value adjustments 5.3 2.8
Excluding fair value adjustments 1.8 27
Weighted average number of ordinary shares {in '000 shares) for the
purpose of computation of basic and diluted earnings per share 1,185,048 1,181,005

There is no dilutive ordinary share in 2017 and 2016,
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TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

28 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2017
Other comprehensive income
ltems that will not be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss
Revaluation of properties

Items that will be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss

Exchange differancas on translation of foreign
oparations

Share of other comprehensive income of an equity
accounted investee

Cash flow hedges

2016
Other comprehensive income
Iterns that will not be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss
Revaluation of properties

ltams that will be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss

Exchange differences on transkation of foreign
oparations

Share of other comprehensive income of an equity
accounted investee

Cash flow hedges

Group
Before Deferred After
tax tax tax
$'000 $'000 5000
33,846 {10,154) 23,692
(8,108} - (9,109)
[6,360) ™ (6,360)
918 1275) 641
19,293 (10,429) 8,864
16,980 15,094) 11,886
4,803 - 4,903
2,829 = 2,829
190) 27 183)
24,622 {5,067) 19,555

The Group entered into certain interest rate swap contracts to hedge its interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives that are
designated and elfective as hedging instruments are carried at fair valua.

Group
2017 2016
$'000 £'000
Derivatives that are designated and effective as hedging instruments
carried at fair value 87 1,019
Thuam Memim  jamms dabssrnl  pabem  Sooenamn Ben o e e o e Il Wb i e debmasis b fata Jans o dasinnated
The Group uses interes! rale swaps o manage Hs Al of the Group's interes! rale swaps are designated

exposure to interest rale movements on its bank
borrowings by swapping a proportion of those
bomowings from floating rates to fixed rates. Contracts
with nominal values of AS177 miflion or eguivalent to
%185 million have fixed interest payments at a fixed
rate of 2.254% per annum for periods up until 2018
and have a floating interest rate of 1 month Bank Bl
Swap Bid Rate.
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and effective as cash fliow hedges and the fair value
change of these interest rate swaps, amounting to
£916,000 (2016: $20,000) has been recognized in other
comprahensive income during the year.
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28 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONT'D)
The following tables detail the noticnal principal amounts and remaining terms of interest rate swap contracts cutstanding
as at the end of the reporting year:

Average contracted

fixed interest rate MNotional principal amount Fair value
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
per annum  per annum £'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
Group
1 menth 2.254% 2.254% 182,363 185,301 87 1,019

29 SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group has the following
significant related party transactions with the major shareholders, associates and the Directors of the Company and their

associates:

Group

2017 20186

$'000 $'000
Transactions with major shareholder
Sale of products and services rendered 61,451 74,947
Sale of a completed development property - 645
Rental income 2,160 1,887
Interest income 664 827
Consideration for disposal of assets of Tyre Distribution Unit 1,750 -
Purchase of products (68,158) {46,747)
Transactions with assoclates
Management fee income 180 180
Rental income - 173
Interest income 414 713
Transactions with Directors of the Company and their associates
Sale of completed development properties 2,270 -
MTH Interest expanse {137} (68)

Tha Company's major shareholder is Murl Holdings
(S) Pte Lid ("Nuri”), incorporated in Singapore.
Related party transactions with major shareholder
refer to transactions with the companies in which the
shareholders of Muri and their family members have a
contralling interest in. The related party fransactions are
entarad into in the normal course of business based on
terms agreed between the parties.

One of the Group's subsidiary, SP Resources
International Pte Lid, is reliant on two related parties for
the supply of 100% (2016: 100%) of its coal. Ancther
subsidiary, Globaltraco Pte Lid, is rellant on ancther
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two related parties for the supply of 86% (2016: 85%)
of its tyres. The Group supplies 100% (2016: 100%) of
its rubber products to two customers who are related
parties. but were previpusly classified as third party
customers.

Accardingly, $60,611,000 sales to thesa two related
parties for the financial year ended 31 December 2016
has been included in the comparative figure of *Sale of
products and services rendered to major shareholder”,
Sales to these two related parties for the financial year
ended 31 December 2017 amounted to $43,853,000.
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SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT'D)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

At the end of the reporting year, the Group had commitments to lease certain commercial properties to Muri, and associates
of the Group. These non-cancellable operating leases had remaining lease terms of 2 months (2016: 1 to 14 months).
Future minimum lease receivables under these leasses not recognized as receivables at the end of sach reporting pariod

were as follows:

Commitment with related parties

Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Commitment with major shareholder
Operating leases
- Within one year 860 2,385
- After one year but not more than five years 1,813 2,100
- After five years 1,695 2209
4,368 6,784
Remuneration of Directors and key management personnel
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Shart-tarm benafits and feas 3,644 3,505
Past-employmeant benefits (defined contribution plan) 53 56
3,697 3,561
30 COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments
Group
2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Development and investmant properties expenditure contracted for
bul not providad in the financial statemants 122,226 143,287
Capital expanditure approved by Directors but not contracted lor
in the financial statements 2,276 5,143
Share of commitments of equity-accounted investees
- Capital expenditure contracted for but not provided in the financial statements 615 1,703

Share of commitment on acquisition of shares

On 31 Decamber 2015, tha Company's 44_5%-owned
associated company, Gul Technolegies Singapore
Ltd ["GuiTech™), has through itz whollv-owned
subsidiary, Gultech International Pte Lid, entered into
an agreemant with a related company, Anhui Prime
Cord Fabrics Company Ltd, to acquire the remaining
38.6% of the issued share capital of Guitech {Suzhou)
Electronics Co., Ltd (*GuiSuzhou®) that it did not already
owned for a cash consideration of 5542 098 000
(RMB194,000,000). The Group's share of commitment
in the acquisition was S$18,725,000 (FMBEBE6,291,000).
Tha acquisition was completed in February 2016 and
GulSuzhou had as from the same date became wholly
owned by GulTech.
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Operating lease commitments - where the Group is
a lessor

The Group entered Into commercial properly leases
on e investment property portiolin,  consisting
of commercial and industrial buildings under non-
cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases
have wvarying terms, escalation clauses and renewal
rights. As at the end of the reporting pericd, these
non-cancellable leases had remaining lease terms of
between one and eleven years (2016: one and eleven

years).
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30 COMMITMENTS (CONT'D)
Operating lease commitments — where the Group is a lessor (cont'd)
The future minimum lease receivables under non-canceliable operating leases contracted for at the end of each reporting
period but not recognised as receivables were as follows:
Group
2017 2016
_____ $'000 §'000
Within one year 31,839 29,649
After one year but not more than five years 42 562 42,007
After five years 4,235 2,561
78,626 74,217
Operating lease commitments — where the Group is a lessee
The Group leases office premises, warehouse, and workshops under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The
leases have varying terms and renewal rights. They are generally negotiated for a term of 1 to 2 years and rentals are
generally fixed for the same periods, Payment recognised as an expense during the year was 5236,000 (2016: $360,000).
The future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of the reporting
period but not recognised as liabfities were as follows:
Group
2017 2016
5'000 $'000
Within one year 215 368
After one year but not more than five years 272 100
487 468
Derivative financial instrument
SP Corp, a listed subsidiary of the Group, utiised currency derivatives to hedge significant future transactions and cash
flows. At the end of the reporting year, the total notional amount of cutstanding forward foreign exchange contracts to
which the Group was committed were as follows:
Group
2017 2016
£'000 £'000
Foreign currency forward contracts 8,400 15,000
The change in the fair value of non-hedging currency derivative was insignificant and hence its amount was not charged
to profit or loss.
k1 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Group Company
2017 2016 2007 2016
£'000 £'000 £'000 5000
Guarantees given to banks in respect of
bank facilities utilised by subsidiaries - - 807,361 513,482

I the previous year, the Group recognised a financial guarantee of 35,408,000 (2016: $5,408,000) granted to its associate,
Pan-Was!, equivalant 1o the Group’s share of corporate guarantees given to certain banks to secure cradit facilties of
Pan-West and its subsidiary [Note 12]. As the kabidlities had been recognised, there were no contingent liabilities as at the
reporting date.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management policies and objectives
The Group has documented financial risk management
policies approved by the Board of Directors. The
policies consist of guidelines and rules to identify
and manage periodically significant risks that might
affect the achievement of business objectlives,
outputs, projects or operaling processes at the Group,
subsidiary or business unit level, Guidelines and rules
are reviewed annually by the Group to ensure that they
remain relevant. The Group's overall risk managemant
program seeks o minimise potentially adverse effects
on financial performance of the Group.

Tha Group's risk management process is carmed out
in threa phases, i.e. idenlification and assessment of
risks, formulation and implementation of risk treatment,
and monitoring and reporting of risk profila. The key
risks relating to financial management include foreign
exchange risk, Interest rate risk, credit risk, use of
derivative financial instruments and investing cash in
axcess of short-term operational requirement.

Factors behind financial risks

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks such as market risk (including currency risk,
interest rate risk and price risk). credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group seeks to minimise potentially adverse
effects arising from the unpredictability of the financial
markets on the Group's financlal parformance.

Classification of financial instruments

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Tha Group's financial instruments comprisa loans and
borrowings, cash and kquid resources, trada and other
receivables, rade and other payables that arise directly
from its operations. The Group manages ils exposure
to currency and interest rate risks by using a variety of
techniques and instrumants as describad in Motes 32(a)
and 32{b) to the financial statements.

Matural hedging is preferred by matching assets and
liabilities of the same currency. Derivative financial
instruments are only used where it is necessary
to reduce the Group's exposure to flectuations In
foreign exchange and Interast rates or to comply with
covenants imposed by banks. While these financial
instruments are subject to risk of change in market
rates subsequent to their acguisition, such changes are
generally offsat by opposite effects on the items being
hedged. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for speculative purposes. The
Group is not exposed to any equity-price risk.

There has been no major change to the Group's
exposure 1o these financial risks or the manner in
which it manages and measures the risk. Market risk
axposures are measured using sensitivity analyses
indécated In Mote 32(a) and Mote 32(b) to the financial
statements.

The table below sets out the financial instruments at the end of the reporting year:

Group Company
2017 2016 2017 2016
- $'000 $'000 $'000 £'000
Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and
bank balances) 312,049 318,914 455,589 263,631
Financial liabilities
Loans and payables - amortised cost 1,572,239 1,126,896 543,508 349,377
Financial guarantee contracts - - 14,738 16,236
1,572,239 1,126,896 558,246 365,613
Derivative financial instruments 87 1.019 - -
1,572,326 1,127,915 558,248 385 6813
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Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

(@)

Currency risk

The Group's subsidiaries operate mainly in
Singapore, Australia, China, Malaysia and
Indonesia. As for s associates, GulTech
opaerates mainly in China and Singapore;
Pan-Wast operates mainly in Singapore
and Malaysia, Enfities in the Group regularly
transact in currencies other than their respective
functional currencies (“foreign currencies®) such
as the Singapore dollar (*SG0D"), Australian
doliar (*ALD"), United States dollar ("USD") and
Malaysian Ringgit ("MYR"). Currency risk arises
when transactions are denominated in foreign
currancies.

In addition, the Group is exposed to cumrency
translation risk on the net asseis in foreign
operations mainly in Australia and China. As far
as possible, the Group relles on natural hedges
of matching foreign assets and liabilities of the
SAMe CUrrancy.
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5P Corp, a listed subsidiary of the Group,
uses forward foreign exchange contracts to
protect against the effect of volatility in foreign
cumrency exchange rates on forelgn currency
denominated assets and liabilities arising in the
normal course of business. SP Corp enters into
forward exchange contracts with maturities of
less than twelve months. Further details on the
forward exchange contracts are disclosed in
Mote 30 to the financial staterments.

The Group does not enter into currency options
and does not use forward foreign exchange
contracts for speculative trading purposes.

Currency nisk exposwre

At the end of the reporting year, tha carrying
amounts of significant monetary assets and
monetary labilities denominated in currencies
cother than the respective entities' functional
currancias wera as follows:

SGD usp AUD Others
$'000 $'000 £'000 $'000
Group
At 31 December 2017
Financlal assets
Cash and bank balances 350 620 1 30
Trade and ather receivables 46 - = 77
396 620 1 107
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables |6,653) {61) - (4,294)
Net financial (liabilities)/assets (6,257) 559 1 (4,187)
Less:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 8,382 - = -
Net currency exposure 2,125 559 1 (4,187)
At 31 Decembar 2016
Financial assets
Cash and bank balances 230 5,791 1 18
Trade and other receivables 40 568 - a5
270 6,359 1 113
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables {19,226) (828} - (120)
Met financial (liabilities)/assets {18,956) 5,531 i M
Less:
Forward foreign exchange contracts 15,328 - - -
Net currency exposure 13,628) 5,531 1 7
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

(@)

(b}

Currency risk {cont'd)

Currancy risk exposure fcont'd)

At the end of the reparting year, the carrying amounts of significant monetary assets and monetary liabilities
denoménated in currencies other than the Company's functional currency weare as follows:

2017 2016

AUD MYR AUD MYR

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Company
Financial assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries - a7 = 1A
Financial liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries (235) - {228) =
Net currency exposure {235) 37 (228) 131

Sensitivity analysis for currency risk

The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase/decrease in the relevant foreign currencies against
the functional currency of each group entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
Internally to key management personnal and represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their transtation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes external loans as well as loans to foreign operations within the Group where they gave
rise 1o an impact on the Group's profit or loss and/or equity.

If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of each group entity, profit or loss
may increase (decrease) by:

SGD uso AUD Others

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'o00 $'000 $'000 $'000

Group

Profit or loss (213) 363 (56) (553) - - 419 1
Company

Profit or loss - - - - 24 23 (4] {13)

The strengthening of the relevant foreign
currency against the functional currency of each
group entity at the end of the reporting year
would have had the egual but opposite effect
on the above currencies to the amounts shown
above, on the basis that all other variables
remain constant.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Cash flow Interest rate risk is the risk that
future cash fiows of a financial instrument may
fluctuate because of changes in interest rates
i the markel. Fair value interast rate risk is the
risk that the fair value of a financial instrument
may fluctuate due to such changes.
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The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate
rigk arisas mainly from bank borrowings. The
Group aims to optimise net intarest cost and to
reduce volatility in the finance cost. The Group
borows mainly variable rate debts with varying
tenures. A summary of the Group's interast-
bearing financial instruments is disclosed in
MNote 32{d) to these financial statements.

Other than those disclosed balow, the Group
does not use derivative financial instruments
to hedge fluctuations in interest rates for its
borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

(b}

Cash flow and fair valuve interest rate risk
(cont'd)

Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
The sensitivity analysis below s based on the
exposure 1o interest rates for non-derivative
Instrumants at the end of the reporting year
and assumeas that the change took place at the
beginning of the financial year and was held
constant throughout the reporting year. The
magnitude reprasents the Group's assessmeant
of the likely movement in interest rates under
normal economic conditions.

If interast rates had been 100 basis points
higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's profit after tax would
decrease or increase by $12,086,000 (2016:
decrease or increase by $9,178,000).

The Company’s profit or loss was not affected
by changes in interest rates as the Company
did not have any barrowings or inter-company
loans that are at variable rates.

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty
will default on its contractual obligations
resulting in financial loss to tha Group. The
Group has adopted a policy of only dealing
with creditworthy counterparties as a mean
of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
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such defaults. Credit risk on cash and bank
balancas and derivative financial instrument
is limited as these balances are placed with
or transacted with institutions of repute. The
Group manages these risks by monitoring credit
worthiness and limiting the aggregate use to
any individual counterparty. The Group does
not expect to incur material credit bosses on its
financial instruments.

With respect to trade and other receivables at
the end of the reporting year, trade amounts
due from other retated parties amounting to
$20,124,000 (2016: $30,820,000) comprised
3 {2016: 3) major customers with cutstanding
balances individually exceeding 5% of the
Group's frade and other receivables as at
31 Decamber 2017.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no
significant concentration of credit risk with
respect 1o the rest of rade receivables at
the end of the reporting year because of the
Group's large number of customers who are
in turn geographically dispersed and from
a fairly diverse spectrum of industries. The
carrying amount of financial assets recorded
In the financial statements, grossed up for
any allowances for losses, represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
without taking into account of the value of any
coftateral obtained and the guarantees given by
the Group to banks in respect of bank facilities
utilized by an associate,

The credit risk for trade recaivables after allowance for doubtiul recaeivables was as follows:

Group
2017 2016
£'000 £'000

By geocgraphical area
Singapore 39,698 100,126
Australia 4,996 4,821
China T04 3,803
Malaysia 1,891 2,330
Indonesta 10,394 8,323
United States of America (USA) 220 126
Others 23 617

57,926 120,246
By type of customers
Related parties 31,040 35,193
Mon-retated parties 26,886 85053

57,926 120,246
By industry sector
Property 17,364 73,863
Hotels investment 4,560 5,236
Industrial services 36,002 41,147

57,926 120,246
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

(d)

Liguidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
sufficient cash and borrowings with different
tenures. Due to the dynamic nature of the
businesses the Group is in, the Group aims at
maintaining flexibility in funding and keeping
adequate committed credit facilities availabla.

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

Analysis for liguidity and interest risk -
naon-derivative financial liabilities

The following tables detail the effective annual
Interest rates and the remaining contractual
maturity for non-derivative financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting year.

The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earfiest
date on which the Group and Company can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash flows. The adjustment column reprasents possibde future cash flow attributable to the instruments included
in the maturity analysis which is not included in the carrying amount of the financial labilities on the statemenis of

financial position.

Effective On demand Within Within
interest or less than 1to 2 2to 5 Over
rate 1 year years years 5years Adjustment Total
% $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
31 December 2017
Mon-interast bearing - 113,656 463 - - = 114,118
Fixed interest rate
instrumeants 4.5 -6.0 12,600 91,821 153,847 - (29,904) 228,364
Variabla interest rate
instruments 22-3.0 301,012 875,350 85,102 3,636 [35,344) 1,229,756
427,268 067,634 238,940 3,636 (65,248) 1,572,239
31 December 2016
Mon-interest bearing - 105,641 462 - - - 106,103
Fizxed interest rate
instrumeants 4.5 3,600 88,420 - - {10.458) 78,5682
Variable interest rate
instruments 1.7-2.8 14,598 668,322 282,697 4,982 (20,368) 941,231
123,839 755204 282697 4,982 (39,828) 1,126,806
Company
31 December 2017
Mon-interest bearing - 315,144 - - - - 315,144
Fixed interest rate
instruments 4.5-6.0 12,600 91,821 153,847 = (29,904) 228,364
Financial guarantes
contracts - 807,361 T R, - (792,623) 14,738
1,135,106 91,821 153,847 - (822,527) 558,246
31 December 2016
Mon-interest bearing = 269,815 - - - - 269,815
Fixed interest rate
instruments 4.5 3.600 86,420 - = {10,458) 79,562
Financial guarantese
contracis - 513,482 - B = (497 ,2486) 16236
TB6,897 86,420 - - (507.704) 365,613
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)
Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

(d}

Liguidity risk {cont'd)

Analysis for liguidity and interest risk -
non-derivative financial Nabilities (cont'd)
At the end of the reporting year, the maximum
amount that the Comgany could be forced to
settle under the financial guarantee contracts
if the full guaranteed amounts were claimed
by the counterparty to the various guarantees,
was S807,361,000 (2016: £513,482,000). The
earliest tima that a guarantee could be called is
as and when the guarantee is claimed by the
counterparty.

As at the end of the reporting year, the Group's
total cbligation on guarantees in connaction
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Analysis for liguidity and interast risk -
nan-derivative financial assets

The following tables detail the effective annual
Interest rates and the expected maturity for
non-derivative financial assets at the end of
the reporting year. The tables have bean drawn
up based on the undiscounted contractual
maturities of the financial assets including
interast that will be sarnad on those assels
except where the Group and the Company
anticipate that the cash flow will occur
In a different year. The adjustment column
reprasents the possible future cash flows
attributable to the instrument included in tha
maturity analysis which are not included in the
camying amount of the financial assets on the
statements of financial position.

with Pan-West's bank facilittes amounted to
$5,408,000 (2016: £5,408,000). The earbest
tima that a guarantee could be called is as
and when the guarantee Is claimed by the

counterparty.
Effective On demand  Within  Within
interest or less than 1to 2 2t0 5 Over
rate 1 year years years 5years Adjustment Total
k) £'000 £'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Group
31 December 2017
Mon-interest bearing - 99,839 5,057 - - = 104,896
Variable interest rate
instruments 0.1 =03 21,163 - - - (5} 21,158
Fixed interest rate
instruments 0.4 - 5.7 123,882 31,275 31,275 - (437) 185,995
244,884 36,332 31,275 - (442) 312,049
31 December 2016
Mon-interest bearing - 156,214 113 2,901 9 - 158,237
Variable interest rate
instruments 0.1-=03 23,4086 - - - {18) 23,390
Fixed interest rate
instruments 02-54 74,072 31,275 31,275 = (335) 136,287
253,682 31,388 34,176 9 {351) 318,914
Company
31 December 2017
Mon-interest bearing - 455,589 - - - - 455,589
31 December 2016
Mon-interest bearing - 263,631 - - - - 263 631
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a2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D)

Classification of financial instruments (cont'd)

TUAN SING HOLDINGS LIMITED

(d)  Liguidity risk (cont'd)
Analysis for liguidity risk - derivative financial instruments
The following table details a Bouidity analysis for derivative financial instruments the Group had entered into at
the end of the reporting year. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted net cash outflows on
the dertvative instruments that settle on a net basis and the undiscounted gross inflows on those derivatives that
require gross sattlemeant.
On demand  Within  Within
orlessthan 1te2 2tob5 Over
1year years years 5years Adjustment Total
£'000 $'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Group
31 December 2017
Gross sattled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts 19 - - - - 19
31 December 2016
Gross settled:
Foreign exchange forward contracts (327} - - - - (327)
{e) Fair value of financial assets and financial The fair value of other classes of financial assets

liabilities

The carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents, ftrade and other receivables
and payables, provisions and other liabllities
approximated their respective fair values due
ta their relative short-taerm maturity.

The fair values of financial assets and financial
liabiiities are determined as follows:

. the fair value of financial assets and
financial Habilittes with standard terms
and conditions and traded on active
fiqguid markets are determined with
reference to quoted market prices;

. the fair value of other financial assets
and financial liabilities (excluding
derivative instruments) are determined
in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices from
observable current market transactions

and dealer quotes for similar
instruments; and
. the fair value of derivative instruments

are calculated using guoted prices.
Where such prices are not available,
discounted cash flow analysis is used,
based on the applicable yield curve
of the duration of the instruments for
non-optional derivatives, and option
pricing models for optional derivatives.,
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and liabities are disclosed in the respective
notes to the financial statements. The Group
classifies fair value measurements using a fair
value hierarchy that reflects the significance of
the inputs used in making the measurements.
Thea fair value hierarchy has tha following levels:

. Level 1. guoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilitias;

. Level 2: inputs other than quoted
prices incleded within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or hability,
either directly [i.e. as prices) or indirectly
{i.e. derived from prices); and

. Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on cbservable market
data (uncbservable inputs).

At the end of each reporting year, the Group
and the Company's interes! rate swap was
measured based on Level 2. The valuation
technique and key Input s future cash flows
which are estimated based on forward interest
rates (from observable yiedd curves at the end of
the reporting year) and contract interast rates,
discounted at a rate that reflects the credil risk
of various counterpartias.



20T ANNUAL REFORT

STATUTORY REPORTS AND ACCOUNT / 205

NOTES TO THE

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2017
A

32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT'D) The Group monitors capital risks through
Classification of financial instruments (cont'd) measuring the Group's gross gearing and
(/] Capital risk net gearing. The Group's gross gearing is

In managing capital, the Group's objectives are calculated as total borrowings divided by
to safeguard its ability to continue as a going total equity, whilst net gearing is calculated
concern and to maintain an optimal capital as nal borrowings divided by total equity. Net
structure so as to provide appropriate returns 10 borrowings are calculated as total borrowings
sharehodders and banefits for other stakeholders as disciosed in Note 13, less cash and bank
through pricing its products and services at balancas as disclosed in Note 5 to the financial
levels commensurate with the level of risks it statements.
Iz exposed 1o.
The capital structure of the Group consists of
loans and borrowings disclosed in Note 13,
ilszuad capital, reserves and retained eamings
disclosed in Notes 18 and 18 o the financial
statements. In order to maintain or achiave
an optimal capital structure, the Group may
lssue new shares, obtain new borrowings, sell
assets to reduce borrowings, pay or adjust the
amount of dividend payment or return capital
to shareholders, The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged from the prior years.
Group

2017 20186

$'000 §'000
Total borrowings 1,458,120 1,020,793
Total equity 996,277 930,456
Gross gearing (times) 1.46 1.10
Met borrowings 1,241,277 857,105
Total equity 996,277 930,456
Neat gearing (times) 1.25 0.92

k k] LISTING OF SIGMNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES
Information relating to the significant subsidiaries is disclosed as below.

Effective

equity interest &
voting power held

Country of _ by the Group
incorporation/ 2017 2016
Name of company Note Principal activities _ establishment % %
Significant subsidiaries directly held
by the Company
Asiaview Properties Ple Lid Property investment  Singapore 100 100
Asplenium Land Pta. Lid. Property developmant  Singapore 100 100
Clerodendrum Land Pte, Lid, Property development  Singapore 100 100
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33 LISTING OF SIGNIFICANT SUBSIDIARIES (CONT'D)
Effective
equity interest &
voting power held

Country of By the Grouy
incorporation/ 2017 2016
Name of company MNote Principal activities  establishment %% %
Significant subsidiaries directly held
by the Company (cont'd)
Dillenia Land Pte, Ltd. Property developmeant  Singapore 100 100
Episcia Land Pte. Lid. Property developmant Singapore 100 100
Gerbera Land Pte. Ltd. Property development Singapore 100 -
Crdey Development Pte Ltd Property investment  Singapore 100 100
SP Corporation Limited Investment holding Singapore 80.2 80.2
Superluck Properties Pte Lid Property investment  Singapore 100 100
Significant subsidiaries indirectly held
by the Company
39 Robinson Road Pte. Lid. Property investment  Singapore 100 100
Grand Hotel Group i Property invvestment  Australia 100 100
Habitat Properties (Shanghai) Ltd. i Property development China 100 100
Shelford Properties Pte Lid Property development  Singapore 100 100
5P Resources International Pre. Lid. Trading of industrial Singapore B80.2 80.2

products

All subsidiaries in Singapore are audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.

LELLY
) Auwdied by oversess practices of Deloiite Touchs Tolmatsy Limited.
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M LISTING OF SIGNIFICANT ASSOCIATES
Associates are those in which the Group has significant influence, but not confrol in the operating and financial policy
decisions,

Information relating 1o the significant associates is disclosed as below:
Effective

equity interest &
voting power held

by the Group
Country of 2017 2018
Name of company MNote Principal activities  incorporation %% %
Gul Technologies Singapore Ple. Lid. il Manufacture of printed  Singapaore 44.5 44.5

circuit boards

Haole:
[} Aucifing by Deloitte A Towche LLP, Sngaparne
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